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NHS ORKNEY 

ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2021/22 

PERFORMANCE REPORT - OVERVIEW 

1. Purpose 

The Overview aims to provide the reader with sufficient information to understand the 
purpose of the NHS Orkney Board, the key risks to the achievement of its objectives 
and how it has performed during 2021/22. Additional information has been provided in 
the Performance Report, the Accountability Report and the financial statements. 

NHS Orkney publishes a wide range of information on its services and activities on its 
website which you can find at: https/www.ohb.scot.nhs.uk 

2. Chief Executive Statement 

2021/22 has been another demanding year for us as we have continued to navigate 
the challenges posed by the Covid-19 pandemic. On behalf of the Board, I would like 
to express my sincere thanks and appreciation to all our staff and partners for their 
fantastic work in supporting the provision of high-quality health and social care to 
patients across our community.   

As an organisation we have had to respond to the enduring challenges posed by 
Covid-19, not only the ongoing demands of rising cases and outbreaks but also the 
impact of staff sickness and the need to self-isolate that has placed unprecedented 
stress on our whole system. Even with these demands our teams have worked 
tirelessly to support those we care for and maintain our services even extending this 
giddcfh ]bhc If_bYmtg =UfY BcaY hc giddcfh UbX dfchYWh h\Y acgh ji`bYfUV`Y ]b cif
community.  

Covid-19 will remain with us for the foreseeable future and will be a significant factor 
not only in how we live our lives but also how we seek to provide our services, and this 
will mean we will need to continue the journey of redesigning how and where care is 
provided to ensure that we can continue to meet the health and social care needs of 
our population now and in the future. Across Orkney we remain committed to providing 
care in the right places to meet the needs of our communities and build on the solid 
foundations already established through the integration of health and social care.  

The continued response and commitment from our staff, partners and the public in 
reacting to Covid-19 has been remarkable. Covid-19 has brought with it challenges 
but also opportunities including the successful implementation of new ways of working 
at a pace that few thought was possible. We will continue to learn and benefit from 
these new approaches to innovate and develop new approaches and we intend to 
build on these as we embark on the next phase of our development led by our new 
Clinical Strategy.  

The Clinical Strategy has been developed during 2021/22 as part of the organisationts 
Wcaa]haYbh hc U W`YUf ghfUhY[]W ZihifY j]g]cb Zcf If_bYmtg \YU`h\ UbX WUfY gYfj]WYg Zcf
the next 5 years. The Strategy will be presented to the Board at its meeting on 23rd

June 2022. Huge effort has been made to engage with internal and external 
stakeholders to devise a plan which meets the needs of our community.   
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The Board continues to focus and respond to key strategic issues that are critically 
important to the future of NHS Orkney. The recommendations from the Care 
Inspectorate report into Children and Young People Services in Orkney is being 
progressed with the progress made across Orkney recognised. However, we still have 
much to do in delivering the necessary changes required to ensure the best possible 
outcomes for children, young people and families across Orkney and addressing the 
failings previously highlighted remains front and centre for the Board.  

Building on the Digital Health and Care Innovation Centre (DHI) Listening Exercise 
undertaken in 2020/21 to shift the culture of NHS Orkney remains a key action for the 
Board. We continue to focus our efforts on taking forward the agreed 
recommendations through a comprehensive set of action in partnership with the staff 
of NHS Orkney. Progress continues to be made in these areas with a number of vital 
actions concluded this financial year. 

The Executive Team also agreed the key priorities for NHS Orkney for 2021/22 which 
fYgi`hYX ]b U sJ`Ub cb U JU[Yt* k]h\ U _Ym ZcWig cb h\Y Zc``ck]b[ Z]jY UfYUg8

� Covid-19 
� Culture 
� Quality and Safety 
� Systems and Governance 
� Sustainability 

A refreshed plan with key priorities for 2022/23 is being developed as part of our 
refresh of our vision and values. T\]g ]g VY]b[ XYjY`cdYX UWfcgg HBM If_bYmtg
Leadership Team.   

It has been a real privilege to lead NHS Orkney over the past twelve months and I 
remain committed to an organisation that places the health and well-being of our 
community at the heart of how we work. I am proud to have been part of the team and 
I look forward to continuing to work with the amazing staff, partners, community and 
dedicated Executive Team, as we navigate through 2022/23 and welcome the exciting 
future possibilities we can deliver for the people of Orkney.   

3. Background and Principal Activities 

Orkney Health Board (NHS Orkney) was established in 1974 under the National Health 
Service (Scotland) Act 1972 and is responsible for providing health care services for 
the residents of Orkney, with a growing population of approximately 22,000. We 
employ 756 staff and provide a range of primary, community-based and acute hospital 
services. 

In 2021/22 we treated 2,551 individual inpatient/daycases in comparison to 2020/21 
when 1,982 were treated. In 2021/22, 4,492 patients on a new waiting list attended our 
specialist outpatient clinics (2020/21 p 5,867) and our accident and emergency 
department treated 5,870 people (2020/21 p 4,805).   

NHS Orkney is one of the smallest territorial health boards in Scotland by general 
funding allocation, and our services are delivered through an Acute Sector, a Public 
Health Directorate and a range of Primary and Community Care services delegated to 
the Integrated Joint Board (IJB). Our clinical services are supported by corporate 
functions such as Finance, Human Resources, Estates and E-Health. 

The IJB is a legally constituted cross sector body providing a focus for NHS Orkney to 
work in partnership with other agencies, including the Local Authority and Primary 
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Healthcare contractors, in the provision of integrated services to the local community. 
Executive Directors and Non-Executive members of the NHS Orkney Board are 
members of the Integration Joint Board which provide the strategic direction for the 
integration of health and social care.   

4. Non-Financial Performance 

NHS Orkney strives to encompass a culture of continuous performance improvement 
which is achieved through our performance framework. Our vision, to be the best 
remote and rural care provider in the UK, is supported by our strategic priorities:  

� Covid-19 
� Culture 
� Quality & Safety 
� Systems & Governance 
� Sustainability 

N\YgY df]cf]h]Yg UfY Zifh\Yf XYZ]bYX ]b HBM If_bYmtg J`Ub cb U JU[Y,

Our core values are at the heart of all we do: 

� Care and compassion 
� Dignity and respect 
� Openness, honesty and responsibility 
� Quality and teamwork. 

During 2021/22 the Board continued to strive to deliver a safe and effective service 
whilst managing ongoing requirements in relation to Covid-19 and successfully 
meeting its financial targets. 

The Board monitors its performance against a range of quality and performance 
measures, some of which are set nationally. The performance measures in this section 
use national and local sources to present the 2021/22 performance. It is important to 
note that much of this data is taken from live systems that may be updated, these 
h\YfYZcfY aUm VY fYj]g]hYX ]b h\Y ZihifY, N\Y <cUfXtg bcb-financial performance 
measures focus on the six dimensions of healthcare quality as highlighted in the 
Healthcare Quality Strategy for NHS Scotland which demonstrate that the system is 
Person Centred, Safe, Effective, Efficient, Equitable and Timely.  

On 1 April 2020, the Scottish Government established a new body, Public Health 
Scotland in order to support national and local partners across Scotland to work 
together to improve healthy life expectancy and reduce health inequalities in our 
communities. Further information is available on the Public Health Scotland website 
(https://www.publichealthscotland.scot).  

Public Health Scotland p Data and Intelligence publishes reports on various activities 
and performance of all NHS Boards, the most up-to-date information can be found at 
the following website: 

https://www.nhsperforms.scot

Performance against the key national clinical treatment targets have clearly been 
impacted by the changes made to support the Boards response to the Covid-19 
pandemic. The figures below highlight the performance data achieved to the end of 
March, taken from internal data sources, and not yet formally verified. 
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Standard Target DQbSX /-// G_cYdY_^

A&E 4 Hour 95% 96%

Treatment Time Guarantee 95% 67%

OP 12 weeks 95% 56%

Cancer 31 day 95% 100%

Cancer 62 day 95% 72%

18 weeks RTT 90% 91%

18 weeks PT 90% 71%

CAMHS 90% Data not yet available

During 2021/22 performance against a number of the standards continued to be 
adversely affected by the Covid-/7 dUbXYa]W U`h\ci[\ kcf_ hc ]ad`YaYbh h\Y <cUfXtg
Remobilisation Plan enabled a reduction in backlog and waiting times in some 
speciality areas. Achieving performance levels for the 12 week Outpatients standard 
and the treatment time guarantee were particularly adversely affected where 
performance reduced as a result of the pausing of elective services during the Covid-
19 response phase and social distancing and increased infection prevention and 
control measures have negatively impacted on clinic and theatre capacity. Throughout 
the year performance in regard to the 4-hour emergency standard has remained good 
and through the prioritisation of urgent suspected cancer diagnostic pathways and 
cancer treatments throughout the pandemic, performance in relation to the cancer 
standards has also been good, although on occasion impacted by small numbers. 
Continued access to CAMHS and Psychological Therapies was facilitated throughout 
2021/22 through the adoption and embedding of NearMe as a critical aspect of service 
delivery. This allowed clinicians to continue to provide access to services without the 
risks of face-to-face contact. Data quality issues have impacted on the submission of 
national datasets during 2021/22 thus the presentation of data in respect of CAMHS 
performance is not yet possible however, submission of aggregate returns will restart 
in Quarter 1 of 2022/23 and be back dated for the previous year.  

N\Y <cUfXtg h\]fX UbX Zcifh\ LYacV]`]gUh]cb J`Ubg kYfY XYjY`cdYX UbX ]ad`YaYbhYX
throughout the course of 2021/22 with the priorities of improving access and 
addressing the backlog which had built up during the pandemic being clearly 
articulated. Remobilisation has involved working closely with partner Boards to access 
elective capacity in other areas and ongoing clinical prioritisation to ensure timely 
access to services for those who are in greatest need. 

5. Key Issues and Risks 

N\Y <cUfXtg ;bbiU` IdYfUh]cbU` J`Ub UbX MhfUhY[]W L]g_ LY[]ghYf gYh cih h\Y _Ym
priorities, challenges and risks NHS Orkney faces in future years and how these will 
be mitigated. The challenge for the Board is to manage these risks in a way that 
ensures we continue to deliver a high standard of operational performance and provide 
quality clinical services, whilst ensuring financial balance and achievement of our 
financial targets.  
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The key strategic risks impacting NHS Orkney as of March 2022 are outlined below. 
N\YgY f]g_g UfY aUbU[YX k]h\]b h\Y <cUfXtg =cfdcfUhY 'MhfUhY[]W( L]g_ LY[]ghYf k\]W\
includes the controls and mitigation measures that are in place to manage these risks. 
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6. Clinical Strategy 

After a period of inactivity, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, development of the Clinical 
Strategy is well underway and will be presented to the Board for approval early in 
2022/23. 

N\Y U]a cZ h\]g dfc^YWh ]g hc dfcXiWY U ghfUhY[]W d`Ub Zcf If_bYmtg \YU`h\ UbX WUfY
services which will ensure that we have a clearly articulated strategic vision for the 
next 5 years. A whole system approach has been taken in order to produce continuity 
of care provision across the spectrum of health and social care. The type and range of 
care provided will be determined by the needs of the patient/service user. 

A wealth of information has been gathered to inform the Clinical Strategy, along with 
the Covid-19 response work. These influences have been captured and integrated into 
the Clinical Strategy. 

7. Remobilisation Plan 

The Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in unprecedented impact on population health 
and wellbeing, and the way in which services are delivered at a time of crisis. 

In March 2021, the Board submitted its third Remobilisation Plan which was based on 
a series of principles and key objectives suited to the current emergency footing for 
NHS Scotland at that time and included summaries of activities in Acute, Mental 
Health, Primary Care and Community, and public health services building on previous 
Remobilisation Plans which covered the period up until 31st July 2020 and then 31st

March 2021. In line with the national framework the third Remobilisation Plan was 
developed with the intention of delivering the three priorities of: 

� Delivering Essential Services 
� Living with Covid-19 
� Supporting Staff Wellbeing  

In September 2021, the Board built on this by developing its fourth Remobilisation Plan 
and articulating the aims of: 

a) Reducing morbidity and mortality from Covid-19 and non-Covid-19 ill health; 
b) Ensuring the delivery of essential services equitably to meet the general 

health needs of the population whilst at the same time minimising the risk of 
virus transmission; 

c) Ensuring that the Board is compliant in meeting the requirements of Scottish 
Government in responding to and recovering from the Covid-19 pandemic. 

The Board will work ib Wc``UVcfUh]cb k]h\ `cWU`* fY[]cbU` UbX bUh]cbU` dUfhbYfg hc
aUl]a]gY h\Y cddcfhib]h]Yg h\Uh \UjY VYYb dfYgYbhYX Ug U fYgi`h cZ h\Y =cj]X+/7
dUbXYa]W hc WUd]hU`]gY cb Ub ]bWfYUgYX UddYh]hY Zcf W\Ub[Y,

Qcf_ hc XYjY`cd h\Y <cUfXtg h\fYY mYUf >Y`]jYfm J`Ub Zcf h\Y dYf]cX 0.00-01 hc 0.01-03
]g cb[c]b[,

8. Orkney Health and Care k Integrated Joint Board 

N\Y CbhY[fUh]cb Dc]bh <cUfXtg MhfUhY[]W J`Ub Zcf 0./7-0.00 kUg UddfcjYX cb h\Y 0
October 2019 and, the following is an extract of the 2019/22 plan and can be located 
here: 
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bEQR[ XTJV JRU[ \W [N\ W]\ \QN JUKR\RWV[ OWZ QNJT\Q JVM [WLRJT LJZN RV @ZSVNa OWZ \QW[N
functions and services delegated to Orkney Health and Care by Orkney Islands 
Council and NHS Orkney. The plan however, also includes the services provided by 
the new Balfour Hospital and other functions that remain with NHS Orkney. We believe 
that this will allow us to make the most of our stretched resources and to ensure that 
movement in and out of the hospital setting is safe, seamless and efficient. The plan 
clearly sets out the principles, values and approach, which will shape all that we do. 
Our focus will always be on innovation and the continual improvement of the health 
and wellbeing of all living in Orkney. It will also be about ensuring our activities 
maximise our ability to reduce health inequalities that exist in our communities. The 
plan sets out our new approaches to health and social care. We need to develop 
MROONZNV\ _Ja[ WO _WZSRVP*c

During 2020/21, a detailed Strategic Commissioning Implementation Plan was 
developed and agreed by the Integration Joint Board early in 2021/22. 

The Integration Scheme was reviewed and approved by the NHS Board and Orkney 
Islands Council for submission to Scottish Government. 

The Integration Joint Board approved revised Terms of Reference for the Strategic 
Planning Group and an enhanced Audit Committee, becoming a Performance and 
Audit Committee, which will be implemented in 2022/23. Orkney Islands Council also 
took the decision to disestablish the Orkney Health and Care Committee, streamlining 
and simplifying the governance arrangements. 

The Rapid Mobile Community Responder Service has enabled many people to remain 
within their own homes and is valued by those who use it. It has also demonstrated 
success in the objectives that were set. The Home First team was established and has 
begun to see good outcomes for those they support.  

A new Distress Brief Interventions project was established in conjunction with 
Penumbra and the Orkney Blide Trust. The Integration Joint Board also approved 
plans to significantly grow our Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services, 
increasing the staffing complement to 14. Some key permanent appointments have 
been made across mental health services, with a consultant psychiatrist, a Service 
Manager and a Clinical Director for CAMHS. 

NHS Orkney, the Integration Joint Board and Orkney Islands Council engaged with 
the National Care Service Consultation and submitted respective responses In 
addition, the three organisations, alongside Voluntary Action Orkney, submitted a joint 
response. 

A Joint Strategic Needs Assessment was completed during 2021/22 to help inform the 
new strategic plan p scheduled to be considered by the IJB early in 2022/23. 

9. Financial Performance 

The Scottish Government sets three annual financial targets at NHS Board level. NHS 
Boards are expected to contain their net expenditure within these targets, and to report 
on variation from the limits set.   
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Revenue resource limit a resource budget for ongoing operations 
Capital resource limit a resource budget for new capital investment 

Cash requirement 
a requirement to fund the cash consequences of 
ongoing operations and new capital investment 

NHS Orkney achieved each target as shown below. 

Limit as set 
by SGHD 

£000 

Actual 
Outturn 

£000 

Surplus 

£000 

Core Revenue Resource Limit 79,611 79,541 70
Non Core Revenue Resource Limit 2,593 2,593 0
Core Capital Resource Limit 2,192 2,192 0

Cash Requirement 76,713 76,713 0

£000

Memorandum of In 
Year Outturn 

Core Revenue Resource Variance (Deficit)/ 
Surplus in 2021/22

70

Financial Flexibility: Funding Banked with 
Scottish Government 

(46) 

Underlying (Deficit)/ Surplus against Core 
Revenue Resource Limit 

24 

Percentage 0.009%

A one year financial plan was submitted to Scottish Government by NHS Orkney on 
31 March 2021. Due to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Scottish Government 
paused the three year Annual Operating and financial planning process. Recognising 
the exceptional nature of 2021/22 and the impact on delivery of financial plans, 
additional non-repayable funding was provided to support in-year financial balance 
across all NHS Boards. NHS Orkney received £11.749m.  

N\Y bchYg hc h\Y UWWcibhg dfcj]XY Zifh\Yf XYhU]`g cb h\Y <cUfXtg ]bWcaY UbX
expenditure during the year. Demand-led income and expenditure in respect of family 
health services (including dental, ophthalmic and pharmacy services) is not included 
]b h\Y <cUfXtg LYjYbiY LYgcifWY F]a]h, N\Y bYh YldYbX]hifY cb ZUa]`m \YU`h\ gYfj]WYg
is deducted from the Statement of Consolidated Comprehensive Net Expenditure to 
Uff]jY Uh h\Y dYfZcfaUbWY U[U]bgh h\Y <cUfXtg LYjYbiY LYgcifWY F]a]h, N\]g ]g set out 
in the Resource Outturn Statement in Note 2a.   

Payment Policy

NHS Orkney is committed to supporting the Scottish Government by paying bills more 
ei]W_`m hc U]X Vig]bYggYgt WUg\ Z`ck, N\Y ]bhYbh]cb ]g hc UW\]YjY dUmaYbh cZ U``
undisputed invoices within 10 working days, across all public bodies.  

Measure of Better Payment 2021/22 2020/21 
Paid by value p in 10 days 64% 47% 
In 30 days 89% 80% 
Credit taken 20 days 20 days 
Paid by volume p in 10 days 64% 57% 
In 30 days 85% 84% 



14 

*Whilst the payment performance has improved in the year, mechanisms are being put in place to 
strengthen performance. 

Other Financial Disclosures 

Outstanding liabilities 

NHS Orkney has £15.477m of current liabilities and no long-term liabilities in 2021/22, 
compared with £11.870m and nil respectively in 2020/21. Current liabilities have 
increased in the year, this is mainly due to the earmarked funding carried forward by 
the IJB at year end.  

Pension Liabilities 

The accounting policy for pensions in provided in Note 1 to the Accounts and 
disclosure is shown within Note 19 and the Remuneration Report. 

Non-Profit Distributing (NPD) k The Balfour Hospital and Healthcare Facility  

The funding arrangements and accounting treatment for the New Hospital and 
Healthcare Facility reflects the nature of the contract, which is a Non Profit Distribution 
(NPD) Scheme with a funding variant. Robertson Capital Projects was selected as the 
Preferred Bidder to design, build, maintain and provide hard facilities management 
services over the 25 year service contract period. Ownership of the property remains 
with Robertson Capital Projects for 25 years when it transfers to NHS Orkney. The 
UggYh ]g fYWc[b]gYX cb h\Y HBM If_bYmtg MhUhYaYbh cZ @]bUbW]U` Jcg]h]cb,

The total cost of the project estimated in the Full Business Case is £115m, this is split 
into two elements: the prepayment for construction of the new build and the ongoing 
Annual Service Payment. NHS Orkney is required to support 50% of lifecycle 
maintenance costs and 100% of hard FM maintenance costs, with the Scottish 
Government supporting all other running costs. In 2021/22 Scottish Government 
funded around 58% of the ASP payable in year with NHS Orkney funding the 
remaining 42%. 

Orkney Health Board Endowment Fund 

The Annual Accounts consolidate the results of Orkney Health Board Endowment 
Fund. The basis of consolidation, explained in note 1 Accounting Policies, is 
determined by the extent of control Orkney Health Board can effectively exercise over 
each of its partner organisations. All Trustees of the Orkney Health Board Endowment 
Fund are members of Orkney Health Board. The Board therefore has majority control 
and, using the principles stipulated by IFRS 10, must consolidate, in full, the financial 
results of the Orkney Health Board Endowment Fund into the main Board accounts.  

N\Y If_bYm BYU`h\ <cUfX ?bXckaYbh @ibXtg bYh UggYhg cZ o/,/24m represented by 
£0.982m unrestricted and £0.142m restricted funds (2020/21: £1.115m, £0.960m 
unrestricted and £0.155m restricted). The increase in net assets of £0.009m (2020/21 
£0.223m increase) relates to an in-year deficit on charitable activities of £0.034m 
(2020/21 £0.065m surplus), and a net gain on investments of £0.043m (2020/21 
£0.157m gain). 

Total income for the year was £0.051m (2020/21: £0.131m), £0.019m (2020/21: 
£0.107m) relating to donations and legacies and £0.032m relating to dividends and 
interest on investments (2020/21: £0.024m).  
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Total reported expenditure for the year was £0.084m (2020/21 £0.066m).  

Integrated Joint Board (IJB) 

The IJB is established under the terms of the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) 
Act 2014 with full delegation of functions and resources to enable integration of primary 
and community health and social care services. 

The IJB is a separate legal organisation and acts as principal in its own right. 
Accordingly, the Health Board is required to reflect the contribution to IJB funding for 
devolved health services, and the subsequent commissioning income from the IJB for 
those services delivered by the Health Board, as a distinct and separate transaction 
from the operational expenditure incurred delivering those services. The consequence 
cZ h\]g* ]b h\Y BYU`h\ <cUfXtg UWWcibhg* ]g YldYbX]hifY cZ o22,/..a '0.00/21 £41.873m 
p restated (note 20)) and income of £40.745m (2020/21 £39.892m p restated (note 
20)). The expenditure is included in note 3 and income in note 4 and analysed below. 
The increase in income and expenditure is mainly due to additional cost pressures and 
funding related to Covid-19, of the £44.100m in year, £5.579m (2020/21 £2.536m) 
relates to additional costs for Covid-19 for Health Board delegated services. Costs 
incurred as a result of Covid-19 include Community Hub (Covid Assessment Centre), 
additional staffing costs to maintain capacity and remobilise services and additional 
accommodation costs. There is earmarked Covid funding of £2.364m carried forward 
to 2022/23.  

There has been substantial additional investment from Scottish Government in relation 
to specific workstreams such as the Mental Health Recovery and Renewal Fund and 
Primary Care Improvement Plan which will see further investment in services 
commissioned.  

There were underachieved savings of £1.800m attributed to the IJB in the year. The 
£44.100m includes funding passed through NHS Orkney to the IJB for Local Authority 
delegated IJB services relating to Covid expenditure in the year, this totals £1.067m in 
2021/22. 

There were earmarked funding allocations received in year which were unutilised at 
year end, and therefore have been carried forward to the following financial year, 
£5.679m of earmarked funding will be carried forward to 2022/23.  

NHS Orkney has 50% share of funds held in reserve by the IJB as a joint venture. This 
is reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Financial position of £3.042m. 

2020/21 2021/22 

Budget - 

Restated

Actual - 

Restated Variance Budget Actual Variance 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

IJB  33,301 33,301 0 35,017 35,017 0 

Set 

Aside 8,572 8,572 0 9,083 9,083 0 

Total 41,873 41,873 0 44,100 44,100 0 
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The set aside is a notional budget for delegated hospital service functions and 
calculated on the basis that the use of underlying resources is within the remit of the 
CD<tg Wcaa]gg]cb]b[ XYW]g]cb* dfYXca]bUbh`m k]h\]b h\Y UWihY gYfj]WYg,

There is a draft three-year medium term financial plan which will be submitted to the 
IJB in June 2022 for approval. This plan outlines the financial challenges and 
opportunities the Orkney Integration Joint Board (IJB) and the associated delivery of 
services through the Orkney Health and Social Care Partnership (OHAC) faces over 
the next 3 years and provides a framework which will support OHAC to remain 
financially sustainable.  It also complements the Strategic Plan, highlighting how the 
dUfhbYfg\]dtg Z]bUbW]U` d`Ubb]b[ df]bW]d`Yg k]`` giddcfh h\Y XY`]jYfm cZ IB;=tg ghfUhY[]W
objectives and priorities for the years 2022-25. During the year, the IJB was set a target 
of £1.800m recurring savings and of this £0k (zero) was delivered. In addition, the IJB 
has a been allocated a further £0.6m efficiency savings target for 2022/23, therefore a 
savings target of £2.4m requires to be delivered over the one year period 2022/23. 

Covid-19 

NHS Orkney was exposed to significant additional costs as a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic in 2021/22. The Board received additional funding from the Scottish 
Government to cover Covid-19 cost pressures in the year.  Funding received in year 
is broken down as follows:- 

Additional Health Board expenditure in the year was incurred in relation to Covid-19, 
the most significant areas of spend include additional hospital bed capacity, Covid-19 
screening and testing for virus, test and protect, cleaning costs, personal protective 
equipment (PPE), Covid-19 vaccine programme delivery costs and remobilisation 
costs. This also includes £1.067m passed to the Local Authority for their Covid 
expenditure. 

10.  Fraud, Bribery and Corruption

NHS Orkney has a zero tolerance for fraud, bribery or corruption. As part of NHS 
If_bYmtg MhUhihcfm- GUbXUhcfm NfU]b]b[ U`` ghUZZ UfY fYei]fYX hc Wcad`YhY h\Y =cibhYf
Fraud Services training module, ensuring staff are reminded regularly about counter 

COVID-19 Impact 

2021/22 2020/21 

£000s £000s 

Gross COVID-19 Additional Costs p
Health Board 3,435  6,419  
Gross COVID-19 Additional Costs  - 
Health & Social Care Partnership 4,450  2,099  

Unachieved Savings p Health Board 2,605  5,231  
Unachieved Savings p Health & 
Social Care Partnership (Health 
Board functions) 1,800  670  
Offsetting Cost Reductions p Health 
Board (540) (2,379)
Offsetting Cost Reductions p Health 
& Social Care Partnership (Health 
Board functions) 0 (233)

Net COVID-19 impact on RRL 11,749 11,807
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fraud matters including the confidential routes that are available to report suspected 
fraud, bribery or corruption. A range of fraud awareness initiatives were progressed 
during the year including training in relation to absence fraud, anti-bribery and 
corruption and general fraud awareness.  

In addition, NHS Orkney works closely with Counter Fraud Services on cases of 
suspected fraud and we issue Intelligence Alerts to staff when updates are received. 

11. Social Matters 

NHS Orkney Equality and Diversity 

NHS Orkney promotes equality and celebrates diversity both in the services we 
provide and within our organisation. We also take our Public Sector Equality Duty to 
promote equality and diversity in the wider community very seriously. 

The Equalitm ;Wh 0.0. XYZ]bYX h\Y b]bY Vi]`X]b[ V`cW_g cf qdfchYWhYX W\UfUWhYf]gh]Wgr cZ
equality and diversity as: 

� Race 
� Disability 
� Sexual Orientation 
� Religion or belief 
� Sex (male or female) 
� Gender reassignment 
� Age 
� Pregnancy and maternity 
� Marriage and civil partnership 

Despite Covid-19, we have continued to make excellent progress in all of these nine 
areas. This is due to the dedication and commitment of large numbers of NHS Orkney 
staff, who deserve much praise for their efforts. 

The Board has also embraced the requirements of the Equality Act (Specific Duties) 
(Scotland) Regulations 2012 and published reports in 2021/22 including the following 
key updates on progress: 

� NHS Orkney Equality Outcomes Report (Objectives) for 2021-2015, published 
March/ April 2021 

� HBM If_bYm qGU]bghfYUa]b[r LYdcfh* diV`]g\ed April 2021 
� NHS Orkney Equal Pay Report, published June 2021 
� NHS Orkney Equality and Diversity Workforce Monitoring Report, published 

May 2021 

During 2021/22, twenty-nine NHS Orkney colleagues attended Equality and Diversity 
Training and at a level appropriate to their role in the organisation via Microsoft Teams. 
This training is delivered via a service level agreement between NHS Grampian and 
NHS Orkney.  

We are also fully engaged with the newly created National NHS Ethnic Minority Forum 
and we continue to work with the other two Island Boards to create a network to enable 
staff colleagues within this category to find a voice.   
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Employment 

NHS Orkney has 756 members of staff (excluding bank), which of itself has significant 
economic and social impacts and benefits to a small community as a major employer. 
We seek to continuously improve the experience of our staff at work. As part of our 
Cultural overview, we established a Staff Engagement and Experience Programme 
sN\Y F]ghYb]b[ Jfc^YWht `YX UbX giddcfhYX Vm h\Y >][]hU` BYU`h\ UbX =UfY CbbcjUh]cb
Centre (DHI). An Action Plan was created following this exercise with 28 
recommendations covering the following areas: 

� Strategic 
� Organisation 
� Digital Improvement 
� Staff Levels and Profile 
� Staff Development 
� Workforce 
� Communication 
� Culture 
� Discharge  

Sustainable workforce planning and development requires us to identify and cultivate 
bYk hU`Ybh dcc`g* UbX hc h\]b_ UVcih bch cb`m h\Y sk\Uht kY bYYX hc XY`]jYf Ug gYfj]WYg
but how we can deliver those services and the use of technology enabled solutions to 
support this. The implementation and embedding of the Clinical Strategy will enable 
us to understand further the levels, types and locations of staff that we need to attract 
and develop over the next 1-5 years and creates an exciting backdrop for workforce 
planning. We will understand our people needs through the articulation of our 
integrated workforce plan p addressing the five elements of the National Strategy: 
Plan, Train, Recruit, Employ and Nurture. 

NHS Orkney continues to have 23 active volunteers in the organisation, these include 
12 Breastfeeding Supporters and 11 Spiritual Care Volunteers. 

As part of our development agenda we continue to provide opportunities for colleagues 
to study at Modern Apprenticeship level in collaboration with Orkney College, 
University of the Highlands and Islands and Skills Development Scotland.  These 
courses are targeted at anyone over the age of 16 with the opportunity to gain a 
recognised qualification whilst in full time employment.  NHS Orkney currently have 2 
colleagues undertaking this level of study in 2021/22, one undertaking Social Services 
and Healthcare and another in Business and Management studies.  During 2021/22 
there have been two colleagues who have successfully completed their Modern 
Apprenticeship in Business and Management.  NHS Orkney also have a further 14 
active Graduate Apprenticeship students who, in collaboration with Robert Gordon 
University, will receive a degree qualification.  Courses have continued to be delivered 
online during 2021/22 as a result of COVID-19, however, remain a great success.  Our 
students are at various stages of their studies which include 11 colleagues studying 
Business Management and 3 colleagues studying Data Science. 

To support the confidence and capability of our managers within NHS Orkney, the 
Human Resources team, working in partnership and in collaboration with our 
colleagues in Shetland, have created and delivered a number of training, development 
and improvement sessions throughout 2021/22.  The manager bundles were aimed at 
providing managers with information and support to allow them to build key skills which 
are required in their role.  This year the manager bundles subjects have been focused 
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at the application of NHSScotland Workforce Policies which were launched in March 
2020; Attendance Management, Managing Difficult Conversation, and Workforce 
Investigations.   

Continuing our focus on developing and improvement, 11 colleagues virtually attended 
a Scottish Improvement Foundation Skills (SIFS) course during 2021/22. The aim of 
SIFS is to support individuals to develop the skills, knowledge, and confidence in using 
improvement methodology and contribute as part of an improvement team testing, 
measuring and reporting on changes made.  Originally developed by NHS Education 
for Scotland (NES) this course was delivered by NHS Shetland and will continue to be 
offered to colleagues in NHS Orkney during 2022/23. 

12. Sustainability and the Environment 

The Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009 originally set out measures adopted by the 
Scottish Government to reduce emissions in Scotland by at least 80% by 2050. The 
Climate Change (Emissions Reductions Targets) (Scotland) Act 2019 amended this 
longer-term target to net-zero by 2045, five years in advance of the rest of the UK. In 
0.0. sN\Y =`]aUhY =\Ub[Y 'MWch`UbX( ;aYbXaYbh cfXYf WUaY ]bhc ZcfWY hc fYZ`YWh h\]g
and now requires NHS Boards to report on their progress in delivering their emissions 
reduction targets.  

All designated Major Players (of which NHS Orkney is one) are required to submit an 
annual report to the Sustainable Scotland Network detailing compliance with the 
climate change duties imposed by the Act and the Amendment order. The information 
returned by the Board is compiled into a national analysis report, published annually 
and superseding the prior requirement for public bodies to publish individual 
gighU]bUV]`]hm fYdcfhg, @ifh\Yf ]bZcfaUh]cb cb h\Y MWchh]g\ AcjYfbaYbhtg UddfcUW\ WUb
be found in the Climate Change Plan 2018-2032 while national reports can be found 
at the following resource:  
https://sustainablescotlandnetwork.org/reports  

Signed  Date 23 June 2022 

Michael Dickson 
Interim Chief Executive 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT   

>]fYWhcfgt LYdcfh

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2022. 

1. Naming convention 

NHS Orkney is the common name for Orkney Health Board. 

2. Date of Issue 

The Accountable Officer authorised these financial statements for issue on 23 June 
2022. 

3. Going Concern 

After making enquiries, the Board has a reasonable expectation that the organisation 
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
Accordingly, the Board continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 
financial statements. Further details regarding the adoption of the going concern basis 
are included in Note 1 of the accounts on page 59. 

4. Accounting Convention 

In accordance with IFRS 10 p Consolidated Financial Statements, the Annual 
Accounts consolidate the results of the Orkney Health Board Endowment Fund. Any 
intra-group transactions between the Board and the Endowment Fund have been 
Y`]a]bUhYX cb Wcbgc`]XUh]cb, N\Y ;bbiU` ;WWcibhg U`gc Wcbgc`]XUhY h\Y <cUfXtg
interest in the Integrated Joint Board, under the terms of the Public Bodies (Joint 
Working) (Scotland) Act 2014. In accordance with IFRS 11 p Joint Arrangements, the 
IJB is considered to be a Joint Venture and under IAS 28 p Investments in Associates 
and Joint Arrangements, the basis of consolidation used is the equity method of 
accounting.  

The Annual Accounts and Notes have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention as modified by the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, and 
available for sale financial assets. The accounts have been prepared under a direction 
issued by Scottish Ministers, which is reproduced on pages 95 and 96 of these 
accounts. The statement of the accounting policies which have been adopted, is 
shown at Note 1 to the Accounts of page 59.  

5. Appointment of auditors 

The Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 places personal 
responsibility on the Auditor General for Scotland to decide who is to undertake the 
audit of each health body in Scotland. For the financial years 2016/17 to 2021/22, the 
Auditor General appointed Gillian Woolman, Audit Director, Audit Scotland to 
undertake the audit of NHS Orkney. The original 5-year term of the appointment was 
extended by a further year on 9 June 2020. The general duties of the auditors of health 
bodies, including their statutory duties, are set out in the Code of Audit Practice issued 
by Audit Scotland and approved by the Auditor General which can be accessed on the 
Audit Scotland website at the following link: https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk
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6. Role of the Board 

Orkney Health Board (NHS Orkney) was established in 1974 under the National Health 
Service (Scotland) Act 1972 and is responsible for providing health care services for 
the residents of Orkney, with a growing population of approximately 22,000. NHS 
If_bYmtg difdcgY ]g hc8

� Optimise health; 
� Optimise care; and 
� Optimise cost. 

NHS Orkney is responsible for improving the health of the local population and 
delivering the healthcare they require. The <cUfX* \Uj]b[ UddfcjYX ]hg ghfUhY[m sIif
Orkney, Our Health p hfUbgZcfa]b[ gYfj]WYg ghfUhY[mt* gYh cih h\Uh acfY cZ h\Y gUaY ]g
not an option. The time to change has never been as important to NHS Orkney as we 
adopt and spread the language and practice of transformation and innovation as part 
of everyday culture.  

All Board members are also trustees of the NHS Orkney Endowment Fund, a 
registered charity established by the NHS (Scotland) Act 1978 and subject to the legal 
framework of the Charities and Trustees Investments (Scotland) Act 2005.  

Under the terms of the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014, the 
Integrated Joint Board (IJB), Orkney Health and Care (OHAC) is established in Orkney 
with full delegation of functions and resources to enable integration of primary and 
community health and social care services. Executive and Non-Executive members of 
Orkney Health Board are appointed to represent the Board as voting members on the 
IJB. The voting membership, and therefore control over the IJB, is shared equally 
between Orkney Health Board and Orkney Islands Council.  

7. Board membership 

Under the terms of the Scottish Health Plan, the Health Board is a board of governance 
whose membership will be conditioned by the functions of the Board. Members of 
Health Boards are selected on the basis of their position or the particular expertise 
which enables them to contribute to the decision making process at a strategic level.  

The Health Board has collective responsibility for the performance of NHS Orkney as 
a whole, and reflects the partnership approach, which is essential to improving health 
and health care. 

The following served as members of the Board during the year: 

Chair and Vice Chair
Meghan McEwen Chair 
David Drever Vice Chair Until 31st January 2022 
David Campbell Vice Chair From 1st February 2022 

Non-Executive Directors
David Campbell Non-Executive Board member Until 31st January 2022 
Caroline Evans  Non-Executive Board member 
Isobel Grieve Non-Executive Board member 
Steven Johnston Area Clinical Forum Chair 
Joanna Kenny Non-Executive Board member 
Fiona MacKellar Employee Director Until 31st March 2022 
James Stockan Local Authority Representative 
Jason Taylor Non-Executive Board member 
Des Creasey Non-Executive Board member From 7th March 2022 
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Executive Directors
Michael Dickson Interim Chief Executive 
Mark Doyle Director of Finance 
David McArthur Director of Nursing, Midwifery and Allied 

Health Professions and Acute Services 
Mark Henry Medical Director From 15th November 

2021 
Dr Louise Wilson Director of Public Health 

N\Y <cUfX aYaVYfgt fYgdcbg]V]`]h]Yg ]b fY`Uh]cb hc h\Y UWWcibhg UfY gYh cih ]b U
statement following this report. 

8. 9_QbT ]U]RUbcl Y^dUbUcdc

The interests of board members, senior managers and other senior staff in contracts 
or potential contractors with NHS Orkney are shown here as required by IAS 24 
(Related Party Transactions are disclosed in note 24).  

Board Member Declared Interest 
David Campbell Trustee p Orkney Health Board Endowment Fund 

Chair p Integration Joint Board Audit Committee 
Voting member of the Integration Joint Board 

Mark Doyle  Trustee p Orkney Health Board Endowment Fund  

David Drever  AfYYb <UX[Y Ncif Ai]XY KiU`]Z]WUh]cb Zcf If_bYm
NfighYY If_bYm BYU`h\ <cUfX ?bXckaYbh @ibX
Pch]b[ GYaVYf + CbhY[fUh]cb Dc]bh <cUfX
=\U]fdYfgcb p BY]`YbX] JfUWh]WY JUh]Ybh @cWig Afcid
=\U]fdYfgcb p If_bYm ;fW\UYc`c[m McW]Yhm 'jc`ibhUfm(

Caroline Evans NfighYY If_bYm BYU`h\ <cUfX ?bXckaYbh @ibX
>Ydihm aYaVYf + CbhY[fUh]cb Dc]bh <cUfX

Issy Grieve NfighYY + If_bYm BYU`h\ <cUfX ?bXckaYbh @ibX
GYaVYf p CbhY[fUh]cb Dc]bh <cUfX

Steven Johnston NHS Orkney Employee 
Trustee of Orkney Health Board Endowment Fund 

Joanna Kenny  JUfhbYf p <Umj]Yk =chhU[Y gY`Z+WUhYf]b[ UWWcaacXUh]cb
NfighYY p If_bYm BYU`h\ <cUfX ?bXckaYbh @ibX

Fiona MacKellar HBM If_bYm ?ad`cmYY
NfighYY cZ If_bYm BYU`h\ <cUfX ?bXckaYbh @ibX

David McArthur <cUfX GYaVYf B][\`UbX L@=; p Hc fYaibYfUh]cb
NfighYY If_bYm BYU`h\ <cUfX ?bXckaYbh @ibX

Meghan McEwen NfighYY p @f]YbXg cZ h\Y QYghfUm J`UmdUf_
NfighYY If_bYm BYU`h\ <cUfX ?bXckaYbh @ibX
>Ydihm aYaVYf + CbhY[fUh]cb Dc]bh <cUfX
JUh]Ybh p QYghfUm Mif[Yfm
JUfYbh cZ W\]`XfYb ]b QYghfUm Dib]cf B][\ MW\cc`* E]f_kU`` AfUaaUf UbX
JUdXU`Y BU``g cZ LYg]XYbWY
@f]YbXg k]h\ HBM Yad`cmYYg

Michael Dickson =\]YZ ?lYWih]jY cZ HBM M\Yh`UbX
NfighYY cZ If_bYm BYU`h\ <cUfX ?bXckaYbh @ibX

James Stockan Leader of Orkney Islands Council 
Joint landlord of various properties 
Member of Friends of St Magnus Cathedral  
Member of Orkney Natural History Museum 
Trustee Orkney Health Board Endowment Fund 

Jason Taylor Planning (Enforcement) Consultant 
Member p Management Committee Orkney Housing Association Ltd 



23 

9. Disclosure of information to Auditor 

N\Y X]fYWhcfg k\c \Y`X cZZ]WY Uh h\Y XUhY cZ UddfcjU` cZ h\]g >]fYWhcftg LYdcfh WcbZ]fa
that, so far as they are each aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
<cUfXtg UiX]hcf ]g ibUkUfY9 UbX YUW\ X]fYWhcf \Ug hU_Yb U`` h\Y ghYdg h\Uh \Y- she ought 
reasonably to have taken as a director to make himself/ herself aware of any relevant 
UiX]h ]bZcfaUh]cb UbX hc YghUV`]g\ h\Uh h\Y <cUfXtg UiX]hcf ]g UkUfY cZ h\Uh ]bZcfaUh]cb. 

10. Remuneration for non audit work 

 No remuneration was paid to external auditors in respect of non audit work.  

11. Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010 

 NHS Orkney publishes (on its web site at www.ohb.scot.nhs.uk) all payments in 
excess of £25,000 in compliance with Sections 31 and 32 of the Public Services 
Reform (Scotland) Act 2010. 

12. Personal Data Related Incidents 

NHS Orkney formally reported personal data related incidents to the Information 
Commissioners Office (ICO) on eleven occasions during 2021/22 (2020/21 three). All 
of these incidents, and those relating to prior years, are now closed. 
Recommendations were made and acted upon, no enforcements action or penalties 
were applied by the ICO.  

In 21/22 NHS Orkney invested in a creating its own in-house Information Governance 
team, previously services were supplied by Orkney Islands Council. This led to an 
increased awareness of incidents within the organisation that required reporting to the 
ICO. This number represents an increased focus by the organisation to identify and 
learn from data incidents.  

13. Financial Instruments 

Information in respect of the financial risk management objectives and policies of the 
Board and the exposure of the Board to price risk, credit risk and cash flow risk is 
disclosed in Note 19. 

Chair p Forum Management Group, BuildHub (Members Association operating 
Online forum for self-builders) 
NfighYY cZ If_bYm BYU`h\ <cUfX ?bXckaYbh @ibX

Dr Louise Wilson Trustee Orkney Health Board Endowment Fund 
Member - Integration Joint Board 
Vice convenor faculty of Public Health Scotland 
Member of EURIPA (European Isolated Practitioners) Executive Committee 
Quality Lead for Scotland, Faculty of Medical Leadership and Management 

Des Creasey Vice President (Banking Europe) p FIS (UK) 
Director p Since 1970 Ltd 
NfighYY p If_bYm BYU`h\ <cUfX ?bXckaYbh @ibX
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THE JK8K<D<EK F= 9F8I; D<D9<IJl I<JGFEJ@9@C@K@<J

Under the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978, the Health Board is required 
to prepare accounts in accordance with the directions of Scottish Ministers which 
require that those accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Health 
Board as at 31 March 2022 and of its operating costs for the year then ended. In 
preparing these accounts the Directors are required to: 

� Apply on a consistent basis the accounting policies and standards approved for 
the NHS Scotland by Scottish Ministers. 

� Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent. 
� State where applicable accounting standards as set out in the Financial 

Reporting Manual have not been followed where the effect of the departure is 
material.    

� Prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the Board will continue to operate. 

The Health Board members are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting 
records are maintained which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Board and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply 
with the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 and the requirements of the 
Scottish Ministers. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Board 
and hence taking reasonable steps for the prevention of fraud and other irregularities. 

The NHS Board members confirm they have discharged the above responsibilities 
during the financial year and in preparing the accounts. 

THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTABLE OFFICERlS RESPONSILITIES  

Under Section 15 of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act, 2000, The 
Principal Accountable Officer (PAO) of the Scottish Government has appointed me as 
Accountable Officer of NHS Orkney. 

This designation carries with it, responsibility for: 

� the propriety and regularity of financial transactions under my control; 
� the economical, efficient and effective use of resources placed at h\Y <cUfXtg

disposal; and 
� safeguarding the assets of the Board. 

In preparing the Accounts I am required to comply with the requirements of the 
AcjYfbaYbhtg @]bUbW]U` LYdcfh]b[ GUbiU` UbX ]b dUfh]Wi`Uf hc8

� observe the accounts direction issued by the Scottish Ministers including the 
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements and apply suitable accounting 
policies on a consistent basis; 

� make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
� state whether applicable acccibh]b[ ghUbXUfXg Ug gYh cih ]b h\Y AcjYfbaYbhtg

Financial Reporting Manual have been followed and disclose and explain any 
material departures; and 

� prepare the accounts on a going concern basis. 
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I confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole are fair, balanced and 
reasonable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts and 
the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable. 

I am responsible for ensuring proper records are maintained and that the accounts are 
prepared under the principles and in the format directed by Scottish Ministers. To the 
best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged my responsibilities as 
Accountable Officer as intimated in the Departmental Accountable IZZ]WYftg `YhhYf hc aY
of 1 July 2020. 
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

1. Strategic Vision, Themes and Values 

The Board is committed to working with our staff and partners to improve the health of 

the residents of Orkney. The Clinical Strategy is being developed in line with our 

strategic vision and values: 

Vision: 

d+@ KB@ =@JK I@EGK@ <F? ILI<D ><I@ HIGMC?@I CF KB@ :1N

Values: 

The Board engages with a range of stakeholders to deliver our objectives, these key 
stakeholders include our staff, independent care practitioners, the local authority, the 
general public, community planning partners and third sector or charitable 
organisations. Many of these relationships have been crucial to enable ongoing 
delivery of our services during the pandemic. 

2. Assurance Framework 

The NHS Orkney Board meets regularly during the year to progress the business of 
NHS Orkney. The overall purpose of the Board is to ensure efficient, effective and 
accountable governance, and to provide strategic leadership and direction. The Board 
articulates the ambition for NHS Orkney and demonstrates leadership by:

� Giving leadership and strategic direction 
� Putting in place controls to safeguard public resources 
� Supervising the overall management of its activities 
� Reporting on management and performance. 

Attendance at Board meetings 

Name Role 
Number of 
Meetings 

Number 
Attended 

% 

Meghan McEwen Chair of the Board 7 7 100% 
David Campbelll Non-Executive Board member 7 7 100% 
David Drever Non-Executive Board member 7 7 100% 
Caroline Evans  Non-Executive Board member 7 5 71% 
Isobel Grieve Non-Executive Board member 7 7 100% 
Steven Johnston Non-Executive Board member 7 6 86% 
Joanna Kenny Non-Executive Board member 7 7 100% 
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Fiona MacKellar Non-Executive Board member 7 6 86% 
James Stockan Non-Executive Board member 7 7 100% 
Jason Taylor Non-Executive Board member 7 7 100% 
Michael Dickson Interim Chief Executive 7 7 100% 
Mark Doyle Director of Finance 7 7 100% 

David McArthur 
Director of Nursing, Midwifery and 
Allied Health Professions and Acute 
Services 

7 1 14% 

Dr Louise Wilson Director of Public Health 7 6 86% 

The work of the Board is supported by a framework of assurance, through the operation 
of governance committees which report to the Board:  

� Finance and Performance 
� Remuneration  
� Clinical and Care Governance 
� Staff Governance  
� Audit and Risk 

Finance and 
Performance 

Five meetings held 
during 2021/22

Reviews the financial and non financial targets of NHS Orkney, to:  

� ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place to deliver against 
organisational performance measures 

� secure economy, efficiency, and effectiveness in the use of all 
resources 

� provide assurance that the arrangements are working effectively 

� provide cross committee assurance to the Integrated Joint Board in 
relation to performance on delegated function 

Members Attendance Role From / To
David Campbelll 5 of 5 Chair of Committee 
James Stockan 4 of 5 Vice Chair  
Michael Dickson 4 of 5 Interim Chief Executive 
Mark Doyle 5 of 5 Director of Finance 
Steven Johnston 5 of 5 Non-Executive Board Member 
Meghan McEwen 5 of 5 Board Chair 

Remuneration  

Three meetings 
held during 
2021/22 

Responsible for:  

� XYhYfa]b]b[ UbX fY[i`Uf`m fYj]Yk]b[ HBM If_bYmtg dUm dc`]Wm* ]b `]bY
with national conditions and guidance 

� agreeing the individual in-mYUf cV^YWh]jYg cZ HBM If_bYmtg YlYWih]jY
directors 

� approving the annual performance assessment of executive directors. 

Members Attendance Role From / To
Meghan McEwen 3 of 3 Chair of Committee 
Davie Campbell 3 of 3 Non-Executive Board Member 
James Stockan 3 of 3 Vice Chair 
Fiona MacKellar 2 of 3 Employee Director/Non-Executive Board 

Member  

Joint Clinical and 
Care Governance 

Four meetings held 
during 2021/22

Fulfils several purposes as follows:  

�

�

fulfils the function of the non-executive members of NHS Orkney and 
advisors providing the Board of NHS Orkney with the assurance that 
robust clinical governance controls and management systems are in 
place and effective in NHS Orkney, in relation to delegated and non-
delegated services it delivers 
fulfils the function of providing the Integration Joint Board with 
assurance that robust clinical and care governance controls and 
management systems are in place and effective for the functions that 
NHS Orkney and Orkney Islands Council have delegated to it. 

� fulfils the requirements set out in MEL (1998)75, MEL (2000)29 and 
HDL (2001)74 around the guidance on the implementation of Clinical 
Governance in the NHS in Scotland.  

Members Attendance Role From / To 
Isobel Grieve  1 of 1 Chair of Committee Until 30 April 2021 
Steven Johnston   3 of 3 Chair of Committee From 1 May 2021 



28 

Steven Johnston   1 of 1 Vice Chair  Until 30 April 2021 
Joanna Kenny   3 of 3 Vice Chair From 1 May 2021 
David Drever   4 of 4 Non-Executive Director Until 31 January 2022 
Rachael King 3 of 4 Elected Orkney Islands Council member   

David McArthur 2 of 4 
Director of Nursing, Midwifery and Allied 
Health Professions 

Meghan McEwen 1 of 1 Chair of the Board Until 30 April 2021 
Michael Dickson 4 of 4 Interim Chief Executive 
Steve Sankey 1 of 4 Elected Orkney Islands Council member   
Heather Tait 4 of 4 Public representative 
Dr Louise Wilson 4 of 4 Director of Public Health 

Staff Governance 

Three meetings 
held during 
2021/22 

Advises the Board on: 

� its responsibility, accountability and performance against the NHS 
Scotland Staff Governance Standard, addressing the issues of policy, 
targets, and organisational effectiveness.  

Members Attendance Role From / To 
Caroline Evans 2 of 3 Chair of Committee 
Fiona MacKellar 3 of 3 Vice Chair 
Joanna Kenny 3 of 3 Non-Executive Board member 
Jason Taylor 3 of 3 Non-Executive Board member 
Michael Dickson 2 of 3 Interim Chief Executive 
Lorraine Hall 3 of 3 Interim Director of Human Resources 
Kate Smith 2 of 3 Partnership representative 
Ryan McLaughlin 3 of 3 Staff representative  

Audit and Risk 

Six meetings held 
during 2021/22

Supports the Board in its responsibilities for: 

� issues of risk, control and governance and associated assurance 
through a process of constructive challenge 

� liaising closely with the Integrated Joint Board Audit Committee and 
sharing information of benefit to the Integrated Joint Board. 

Members Attendance Role From / To 
David Drever 5 of 5 Chair of Committee Until 31 January 2022 
Jason Taylor 1 of 1 Chair of Committee From 1 February 2022 
Jason Taylor 5 of 5 Vice Chair Until 31 January 2022 
Fiona MacKellar 6 of 6 Employee Director/Non Executive Board 

Member 
Issy Grieve 6 of 6 Non Executive Board Member 

Responsibilities of Members of the Board 

Membership of the NHS Board carries with it a collective and corporate responsibility 
for the discharge of these functions carried out by the committees. All members are 
expected to bring an impartial judgement to bear on issues of strategy, performance 
management, key appointments and accountability, upwards to Scottish Ministers and 
outwards to the local community. 

It is the duty of the Chair and me as Chief Executive to ensure that Board Members 
and staff understand their responsibilities. Board Members and Managers have 
received copies of the Code of Corporate Governance and the Board Secretary 
maintains a list of managers to whom the Code of Corporate Governance has been 
issued. Managers are responsible for ensuring staff understand their own 
responsibilities. 

The NHS Board has arrangements which provide an integrated approach to 
governance across clinical areas, staff arrangements, involving and engaging people 
in our service, developments and performance management. The conduct and 
proceedings of the NHS Board are set out in the Code of Corporate Governance; this 
document specifies the matters which are reserved for the NHS Board, the matters 
which are delegated under the Scheme of Delegation and the matters which are 
remitted to a Committee of the NHS Board. 
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Board members must comply with the Code of Corporate Governance and the 
Endowment Charter, including the Code of Conduct, along with the Standing Financial 
Instructions. These Standing Orders for regulation of the conduct and proceedings of 
Orkney NHS Board, and its Committees are made under the terms of The Health 
Boards (Membership and Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2001 (2001 No. 302), as 
amended up to and including The Health Boards (Membership and Procedure) 
(Scotland) Amendment Regulations 2016 (2016 No. 3). 

The non-executive members provide constructive scrutiny and challenge and this is 
evidenced in minutes of meetings. In addition to the Code of Conduct for Members, 
the <cUfX \Ug U =cfdcfUhY J`Ub k\]W\ gYhg cih scif dfca]gYt hc dUh]Ybhg UbX h\Y]f
families and how NHS Orkney prides itself in delivering high quality care whilst 
ensuring all our patients are treated with dignity and respect.  The Corporate Plan sets 
cih scif dfca]gYt hc ghUZZ UbX cif YldYWhUh]cbg Zfca ghUZZ hc XYacbghfUhY h\Y]f
commitment and accountability for their actions and contribution to individual, 
team/department and organisational performance.   

All NHS Board executive directors review their development needs as part of the 
annual performance management and development process. This process is directed 
by the corporate objectives detailed within the Corporate Plan. 

Whilst pay arrangements for NHS staff are determined under national arrangements, 
h\Y dUm UffUb[YaYbhg Zcf h\Y <cUfXtg gYb]cf aUbU[Yfg, whose posts are part of the 
Executive Management cohort, are subject to Scottish Government guidance, 
determined by the Remuneration Committee.  

3. Scope of Responsibility 

As Accountable Officer, I am responsible for maintaining an adequate and effective 
system of internal control that supports compliance with the achievement of NHS 
If_bYmtg dc`]W]Yg UbX dfcachYg UW\]YjYaYbh cZ h\Y cf[Ub]gUh]cbtg U]ag UbX
objectives, including those set by Scottish Ministers. I am also responsible for 
safeguarding the public funds and assets assigned to the Board. In accordance with 
IAS 27 p Separate Financial Statements, these financial statements consolidate 
Orkney Health Board Endowment Fund. This statement includes any relevant 
disclosure in respect of these Endowment Accounts.   

NHS Orkney complies with the requirements as set out in the Scottish Public Finance 
Manual (SPFM). To ensure adherence to the requirements of the SPFM, in 2021/22, 
the following governance arrangements have been in place: 

� A Board which meets regularly to discharge its governance responsibilities, set the 
strategic direction for the organisation and approve decisions in line with the 
Scheme of Delegation. The Board comprises the Executive Directors and Non-
Executive members. The Board activity is open to public scrutiny with minutes of 
meetings publicly available; 

� The Board receives regular reports on Healthcare Associated Infection, Prevent 
and Control; 

� Scheme of Delegation, Standing Orders and Standing Financial Instructions 
approved by the Board are subject to regular review to assess whether they are 
relevant and fully reflective of both best practice and mandatory requirements; 

� Organisation wide risk management arrangements built on localised risk registers 
and processes which ensure, as appropriate, escalation of significant instances of 
non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations; 
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� The Board receives regular updates on key statutory compliance functions 
including Information Governance, Health and Safety, fire and asbestos from 
appointed staff who are tasked with ensuring they are up to date with all relevant 
legislation and are responsible for co-ordinating management action in these 
areas; 

� A focus on best value and commitment to ensuring that resources are used 
efficiently, effectively and economically taking into consideration equal 
opportunities and sustainable development requirements; 

� The Board receives regular reports for consideration from the chairs of the finance 
and performance, staff governance, clinical and care governance, audit and risk 
committeegt and from the Chair of the Endowment Fund which highlight key issues 
raised; 

� The governance committees are supported by a designated lead Executive 
Director who has the delegated management accountability for statutory and 
regulatory matters; 

� Regular review of financial performance, risk management arrangements and non-
financial performance against key service measures and standards by the Finance 
and Performance Committee; 

� Regular review of workforce arrangements and implementation of the NHS 
Scotland Staff Governance standards by the Staff Governance Committee; 

� Regular review of service quality against recognised professional clinical standards 
by the Clinical and Care Governance Committee; 

� An active Area Partnership Forum with an Employee Director who is a member of 
the Board; 

� Regular review of Capital priorities for investment against the agreed plan; 
� Clear allocation of responsibilities to ensure we review and develop our 

organisational arrangements and services in line with national standards and 
guidance; 

� Promotion of effective cross sector governance arrangements through participation 
by IJB Board members and the Chief Executive at IJB committee meetings and 
performance review meetings with the IJB Chief Officer to further develop and drive 
improvement through integrated service delivery; 

� A patient feedback service to record and investigate complaints, and policies to 
protect employees who raise concerns in relation to suspected wrongdoing such 
as clinical malpractice, fraud and health and safety breaches; and  

� Separate governance arrangements for the Orkney Health Board Endowment 
Fund which includes an Endowment Sub Committee of Trustees with delegated 
authority to manage the day to day operational matters of the charity. 

4. Purpose of the System of Internal Control 

The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify, 
prioritise and manage the principal risks facing the organisation. The system aims to 
evaluate the nature and extent of risks, and manage risks efficiently, effectively and 
economically, and is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to 
achiYjY h\Y <cUfXtg U]ag UbX cV^YWh]jYg, ;g giW\* ]h WUb cb`m dfcj]XY fYUgcbUV`Y UbX
not absolute assurance. The process is consistent with the SPFM and supplementary 
NHS guidance, and has been in place for the year up to the date of approval of the 
annual report and accounts.  

The Scottish Ministers issue the SPFM to provide guidance to the Scottish 
Government and other relevant bodies on the proper handling and reporting of public 
funds, and it can be accessed via the following link:  

https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-public-finance-manual
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5. Data Quality 

The Board receives numerous reports which include detailed information covering 
financial, clinical and staffing information. In general these reports are considered by 
the Executive Management Team and at various Governance Committees prior to 
being discussed at the Board. This allows for detailed consideration of the content, 
completeness and clarity of the information being provided to the Board. Assurance 
on the information included in reports also comes from the overall approach to the 
management of information (through the Information Governance group) and 
validation processes and assurances on the quality of information provided from 
internal audit and other scrutiny bodies.

6. Risk Management Arrangements 

The Chief Executive of the NHS Board as Accountable Officer whilst personally 
answerable to the Parliament is ultimately also accountable to the Board for the 
effective management of risk.  

NHS Scotland bodies are subject to the requirements of the SPFM and must operate 
a risk management strategy in accordance with relevant guidance issued by Scottish 
Ministers. The general principles for a successful risk management strategy are set 
out in the SPFM. 

NHS Orkney acknowledges that the systematic and effective implementation of risk 
management is best practice at a corporate and strategic level as well as a means of 
improving the quality and safety of operational activities. As Chief Executive I ensure 
there is suitable review and management of corporate risks and that all significant risk 
management concerns are prioritised, considered and communicated to our 
Governance Committees and the Board on a regular basis.   This is supported by an 
established assurance framework which is used by each of the core governance 
committees to identify and seek assurance regarding mitigating actions for risks that 
fall within their remit. 

The Board of NHS Orkney reviewed its position against the blueprint for good 
governance in 2019 and identified risk management as one of its priority areas for 
UWh]cb, ; fYj]Yk cZ h\Y <cUfXtg UddfcUW\ hc f]g_ aUbU[YaYbh hcc_ d`UWY UbX kcf_]b[
within the context of our approved Risk Management Strategy and Policy which 
includes the articulation and management of risk through a three tier risk register 
structure we have developed our risk management approach to ensure it is well 
embedded and provides clear routes for escalation and de-escalation of risk as well 
as ensuring risk is an integral part of organisation wide decision making.  

Risk is considered in the context of the national Quality of Care framework and thus 
U`][bg k]h\ h\Y <cUfXtg UddfcUW\ hc W`]nical governance and patient safety. There is 
regular comprehensive and organisation wide review of our risks and ongoing 
development of the risk management arrangements at an operational level. Risk 
management procedures were developed and implemented during 2021/22 to reflect 
changes in our risk management approach and governance arrangements, including 
the relationships between the Risk Management Forum and Occupational Health and 
Safety Committee have been further enhanced. 

At present, there are four very \][\ f]g_g cb h\Y <cUfXtg f]g_ fY[]ghYf fY`Uh]b[ hc
]bZcfaUh]cb gYWif]hm* fY[i`Uhcfm Wcad`]UbWY UbX WcfdcfUhY Z]bUbWY, N\Y <cUfXtg
exposure in high risks includes a number of areas which pose a threat to the delivery 
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of services and patient care. This includes risks covering IT and technology, workforce 
and ability to meet population health needs with management plans in place to bring 
risk exposure down to the identified tolerable level. 

7. Internal Control Matters 

NHS Orkney is committed to a process of continuous development and improvement, 
ensuring processes and systems are in place to address key risks and respond to 
developments in best practice. The Audit and Risk Committee monitors progress of all 
medium to high risk recommendations arising from internal audit reports.   

In the period covering the year to 31 March 2022 and up to the signing of the accounts, 
h\Y cf[Ub]gUh]cb \Ug ]ad`YaYbhYX h\Y Zc``ck]b[ UWh]cbg hc Zifh\Yf Yb\UbWY h\Y <cUfXtg
governance arrangements and to provide additional assurance over the system of 
internal control and the key risks identified in the strategic risk register on pages 8 to 
10 above:- 

7.1 Board Development and Governance 

7.1.1 Covid-19 Pandemic 

Following the declaration of Covid-19 as a worldwide pandemic in March 2020 the 
Board implemented our emergency planning arrangements. In line with Scottish 
Government guidance, the Board agreed revised governance arrangements for the 
duration of the Covid-19 response and recovery period, reviewing these on a regular 
basis to ensure that a return to established governance could take place whenever 
appropriate. During 2021/22, the Board approved a temporary revised approach to 
Corporate Governance Arrangements from the 16th December 2021 to the 31st January 
2022. 

7.1.1 a) Board and Board Sub Committees 

) To protect the health and wellbeing of anyone who would have attended the 
meeting, the Board did not convene it meetings in public during the period that 
preventative measures, including social distancing were in place. 

) All Board minutes and meeting papers did however continue to be made 
diV`]W`m UjU]`UV`Y cb h\Y <cUfXtg kYVg]hY and contact details provided for 
members of the public to attend Board meetings virtually if required.  

) The Board engaged with local media to inform the public about matters 
discussed and agreed to maintain important links with the public and 
community. Local media were virtually invited to all public meetings of the 
Board. 

) The Interim Chief Executive has regular contact with the public through 
Facebook live feed which provides updates and allows the public opportunities 
to interact and ask questions. 

) Board agendas reverted to the standard governance format, with additional 
assurance provided around the Covid-19 response and recovery. 

) The Board moved to fortnightly meetings of the Agile Board and stood down all 
non-essential meetings from 16th December 2021 to 31st January 2022, while 
the organisation continued to deal with the Covid-19 pandemic and the 
additional immediate pressures caused by the Omicron variant and accelerated 
vaccination programme. 
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7.1.1 b) Performance Governance 

) The senior finance team continued to adjust workload priorities to ensure 
provision of advice and support to enable management to operate within 
appropriate financial framework and to ensure that additional Covid-19 
expenditure was only incurred where necessary and essential to the Boardtg
Covid-19 response.  

7.1.1 c) System Leadership  

NHS Orkney stood down its gold, silver, bronze command structure in May 2020 
resuming its business as usual governance and management structures supported by 
additional sub groups reporting into the senior management team for the management 
cZ h\Y <cUfXtg response to the pandemic and the re-mobilisation of services. This 
includes a multi-agency Whole System Recovery group which was established to 
progress the development and implementation of this Re-mobilisation Plan ensuring 
the preparation of services for moving forward out of the acute phase of the Covid-19 
pandemic and a focus on recovery and renewal to ensure the health needs of the 
population can be met whilst our ability to respond to Covid-19 is maintained. Group 
membership includes representation from across clinical and non-clinical service 
areas as well as the Employee Director and Chair of the Area Clinical Forum.

Work to embed changes following the introduction of Associate Medical Director 
positions for both Community and Acute Services, to enhance medical leadership 
across the system, as well as the establishment of a standalone Director of Acute 
Services position continues. Work also continues to progress the recommendations 
identified through the Digital Health and Care Institute Listening Exercise, with an 
action plan being implemented to deliver change throughout the organisation, whilst 
acknowledging the challenges that the continuing gaps in leadership present. 

The Board has supported the focus of efforts on a smaller set of priority areas, in light 
of the unprecedented demands and unique set of circumstances that the pandemic 
has brought and the need to focus resources and efforts in these areas. The Board 
have approved the NHS Orkney 2021 Plan on a Page which articulate these areas, 
the reasons for them and the supportive actions under each priority. 

Governance arrangements have been reviewed regularly throughout the pandemic to 
ensure they remain fit for purpose and support effective decision making, whilst 
continuing to recognise and appreciate the additional strain on staff and resources; 
this balanced and pragmatic approach will continue throughout the coming year. 

As with other Boards in Scotland NHS Orkney has put in place the necessary 
structures and processes to facilitate operation of the National Whistleblowing 
Standards and is continuing work to progress implementation.  

NHS Orkney is supportive of the Scottish Government initiative to introduce an active 
governance approach across NHS Boards through the programme of work being taken 
forward by NHS Education for Scotland and have participated in a Board development 
session on this matter and incorporated changes based on early work in this area to 
support the Board to focus on the right things, consider the right evidence and respond 
in the right way.  
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7.1.2 Other matters affecting Board Development and Governance 

) The Board and the Audit and Risk Committee continue to review regular 
updates on progress against the following identified areas for improvement - 
Risk Management, Information Governance, Joint Clinical and Staff 
Governance.   

) All Board Executive and Non-Executive directors have formal annual 
appraisals, a key element of which is identification of the personal development 
requirements of each individual for the following 12 months.  

) The Board is embarking on a programme of identifying leaders of the future 
throughout NHS Orkney. The programme will ensure that staff are supported to 
develop their skills, experience and knowledge in line with our ambition to 
progress as a health and social care system. 

) NHS Board Executive and Non-Executive members have participated in 
XYjY`cdaYbh gYgg]cbg Xif]b[ h\Y mYUf* Wcbg]ghYbh k]h\ h\Y <cUfXtg Wcaa]hment 
for continuous improvement and assessment of our performance. 

) The Chair of NHS Orkney meets regularly with Non-Executive members to 
ensure they are kept up to date with current developments and allows 
opportunities for discussion. 

) The Board have delegated responsibility for monitoring implementation of key 
strategic plans, to the Finance and Performance Committee. 

) =cbh]biUh]cb cZ UffUb[YaYbhg Zcf h\Y <cUfXtg WcfdcfUhY fY[]ghYf cZ ]bhYfYghg
including regular reminders to all staff on the process. 

7.2 Quality and Safety

The Clinical and Care Governance Committee has a number of functions that serve 
both the NHS Board and the Integrated Joint Board. In regard to NHS Orkney, it 
provides assurance in respect of clinical quality and patient safety, effectiveness and 
experience through robust performance monitoring and reporting.  

The Quality Forum is responsible for providing the assurance to the Clinical and Care 
Governance Committee. The Chair and/ or Vice Chair of this Committee have an open 
invitation to observe the working of the Quality Forum. The Quality Forum brings 
together clinicians from across the range of healthcare services to provide a forum for 
clinical and professional discussion, advice, leadership and development for all 
matters relating to the quality and safety of care provided. The overarching aim of the 
Forum is to eliminate preventable deaths, seek out and reduce harm, improve patient 
outcomes and demonstrate delivery of high quality reliable care based on what matters 
most to patients, families and their carers. 

The group reviewed and updated its Terms of Reference and Membership in July 
2021. 

During 2021/22 the Quality Forum maintained a high level of engagement and 
participation despite substantial operational pressures and focussed on: 

� Refreshing the Learning from Adverse Events Policy to ensure alignment with 
national policy and the Quality of Care Framework as well as enhance 
consistency of practice across information governance and healthcare 
governance. 

� Considering and sharing learning obtained from Adverse Events, building on 
the triangulation which takes place between Weekly Incident Review Group, 
Patient Experience and Morbidity and Mortality meetings, providing a strong 
Multi Disciplinary Team (MDT) approach to governance. 
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� Shaping refreshed policies on manual handling, violence and aggression and 
falls. 

� Securing progress in reviewing and updating clinical policies and procedures. 
� Maintaining oversight of performance in relation to complaints, feedback and 

patient experience and ensuring NHS Orkney continues to operate a well-
established complaints system.  

Additionally, during 2021/22 arrangements for the implementation of the Health and 
Care (Staffing) (Scotland) Act 2019, which is primarily focused on ensuring that we are 
resourced to deliver safe and effective care, have been progressed and are being 
overseen by the Clinical and Care Governance and Staff Governance Committees.  

Fcc_]b[ U\YUX* HBM If_bYmtg bYk =`]b]WU` MhfUhY[m ]g ibXYfd]bbYX Vm U Wcaa]tment 
to a long-term approach of continuous improvement which will take account of evolving 
national and local priorities. Through the development of a supporting Quality 
Framework the Board will focus on improving how it measures and evaluates the 
effectiveness for improvement is built across the workforce, equipping staff for fully 
engaging in delivering measurable improvement outcomes for patients and service 
users. 

7.3 Workforce 

The People Directorate report workforce narrative via the Staff Governance Committee 
via a number of specific reporting templates and a standing workforce report.  

Report on Agency Locum Medical Staff fitness to Practice File Audit  

Following the submission of a workforce report to the Staff Governance Committee the 
Committee requested, Human Resources to provide findings from an annual audit on 
Agency Locum files. >if]b[ h\]g UiX]h HBM If_bYmtg local Safer Pre and Post 
Employment Checks Policy was applied (underpinned by the pre and post-
employment checks: NHSScotland PIN policy 27 March 2014). These policies set a 
minimum standard for the undertaking of checking procedures, where required by law 
or otherwise considered mandatory both prior to, and following, appointment to 
undertake paid work or prior to and following engagement in other forms of unpaid 
placement within NHSScotland Boards.  

One audit has been completed: Agency Locum Medical Staff Fitness to Practice File.  

The Audit findings were reported to Staff Governance Committee:-  

� 12 files audited:   

o 6 Agency locums had evidence of the Occupational Health 
questionnaire having been submitted and subsequently had 
Occupational Health clearance.    
o All 12 Agency locums had CVs as well as professional registration 
checks.  
o 1 Agency locum had no photographic ID saved in file.   
o 5 of the 12 Agency locums have the required 2 reference checks 
saved within their file.  

This Audit created visibility and an opportunity for the Medical Staffing Officer to 
engage with agencies and future Locum workers to ensure work was only being 
offered where all pre-employment documentation was received before the first day of 
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their assignment.  The HR team and Medical Staffing Officer continue to ensure work 
is undertaken with reference to PIN compliance and Home Office guidance to both 
mitigate organisational risk and ensure quality and safety in all recruitment activity.   

7.4 Compliance  

The Audit and Risk Committee received briefings during the year on the following key 
risk areas highlighted in recent audit reviews:- 

) Financial Impact of Covid-19 and the controls in place to manage this. 
) Remobilisation planning process 
) Regular updates received from the Information Governance Committee with 

actions to date and any items agreed be progressed to the Audit and Risk 
Committee for consideration and in some instances for further discussion at the 
Board.  

) Review of the effectiveness of Digital and IT services within NHS Orkney and 
approval of the Digital Strategy by the Finance and Performance Committee. 

) Regular updates on progress of implementation of the refreshed approach to 
risk management across NHS Orkney. 

) Business Continuity Plans reviewed and updated in line with response to Covid-
19 pandemic. 

) Interim Director of Human Resources is carrying out review and update of 
Workforce Strategy.  

) Development of refreshed Corporate Strategy underway.   
) Development of communications policy and related procedures. 
) Updates on development of Clinical Strategy. 

7.5 Involvement and Engagement  

) NHS Orkney, in partnership with the Integrated Joint Board, continues to 
progress consistent visions and values aimed at ensuring consistent messages 
in all communications between clinical staff, service users and their carers.  

) N\Y <cUfXtg UggifUbWY framework continues to recognise the importance of the 
role of staff side and the advisory structure in supporting the work of Board sub 
committees through the Area Partnership Forum and staff side representatives 
on various committees. 

8. Best Value 

I can confirm that Orkney Health Board is committed to ensuring that its activities are 
undertaken in a manner that will secure best value in the use of public funds in line 
with the arrangements set out in the SPFM. The Board incorporates the principles of 
best value within its planning, performance and delivery activities ensuring that they 
UfY dUfh cZ YjYfmXUm Vig]bYgg UbX ]bhY[fU` hc h\Y <cUfXtg XYW]g]cb aU_]b[ ]b U`` _Ym
areas. In addition, the Board continues to enhance the system of internal control with 
specific focus on the delivery of safe and effective patient care, achievement of priority 
access targets and demonstrating best value and the efficient use of resources. 

9. Review of Adequacy and Effectiveness  

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the system of internal control and the quality of data used. My views 
have been informed by: 
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� the Executive Directors, who have a responsibility for development and 
maintenance of the internal control framework, and their subsidiary report on 
governance; 

� N\Y <cUfXtg aYaVYfg\]d \Ug VYYb fYZfYg\YX, N\Y <cUfX \Ug h\fci[\cih h\Y
year refreshed its membership of committees; 

� the work of the internal auditors, who submit regular reports to the Audit and Risk 
Committee which include their independent and objective opinion on the 
UXYeiUWm UbX YZZYWh]jYbYgg cZ h\Y cf[Ub]gUh]cbtg gmghYa cZ Wcbhfc` hc[Yh\Yf k]h\
recommendations for improvement; 

� comments made by external auditors in their management letters and reports; 
� financial plans, service plans and related organisational performance and risk 

management reports presented to the Board and relevant governance 
committees 

� reports from Health Improvement Scotland and other inspection agencies; 
� statements of Assurance from the assurance committees;  
� annual reports from assurance committees. 

In addition to the above, the processes that have been applied to assist me in reviewing 
the effectiveness of the system of internal control include: 

� Annual statements of assurance from each of the core governance committees 
of the Board, including the Endowment Committee, with respect to the 
governance arrangements that exist for the NHS Orkney Endowment Funds 
charity which is consolidated with the main Board accounts; 

� Written confirmation from executive and senior managers that controls within 
their individual areas of responsibility are adequate and have been operating 
effectively throughout the year;  

� Assurance from the External Auditor of the NHS Orkney Endowment Funds, in 
their management letter, that expenditure complies with the charitable purpose 
and that endowment funds have not been used retrospectively for expenditure 
originally authorised as a commitment against exchequer funds; 

� Independent consideration of the governance statements and its disclosures by 
Internal Audit and the Audit and Risk Committee; 

� Consideration and approval of the annual accounts, including the Governance 
Statement by the Board; and  

� During the year, minutes of the meetings of the core governance committees 
were provided to all Board members.

I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness 
of internal control by the Board and the Audit and Risk Committee and plan to address 
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.  

10. Disclosures 

Based on the evidence considered during my review of the effectiveness of the internal 
control environment operating within NHS Orkney, I am not aware of any outstanding 
significant control weaknesses or other failures to achieve the standards set out in the 
guidance on governance, risk management and control.  
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT k REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT   

A) REMUNERATION REPORT 

9F8I; D<D9<IJl 8E; J<E@FI <DGCFP<<Jl I<DLE<I8K@FE

The total remuneration disclosed on pages 38 to 43 includes all amounts paid or 
payable to the Executive Directors and Non-Executive members in 2020/21 and 
2021/22. This includes a separate assessment of the estimated increase in the 
cumulative pension benefit that will be payable following retirement. These disclosures 
have been subject to audit. 

REMUNERATION REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

Note 1:       Michael Dickson - commenced as Interim Chief Executive for 2.5 days per week with effect from 01/07/2020, is 
seconded from NHS Shetland and pension benefits will be disclosed by them. Total charges are those invoiced. 

Note 2: Lorraine Hall p commenced as Interim Director of Human Resources for 2.5 days per week with effect from 
01/10/2020, is seconded from NHS Shetland and pension benefits will be disclosed by them. Total charges are 
those invoiced. 

Note 3: Mark Henry p commenced 15/11/2021. Gross salary would be in the range £125,000-£130,000 

Note 4: Des Creasey p commenced 21/03/2022, gross salary would be in the range £5,000-£10,000  

Note 5: S Johnston - The remuneration disclosed comprises remuneration for his role as Chair of Area Clinical Forum and 
his remuneration for his substantive post as a Dentist. The gross remuneration for his role as Non Executive 
Director would be in the annual range of £5,000 - £10,000. 

Note 6:  F Mackellar - the remuneration disclosed comprises remuneration for her role as Employee Director and her 
remuneration for her substantive post as a Physiotherapist. The gross remuneration for her role as a Non 
Executive Director is in the annual range of £5,000 - £10,000. Left 31/03/2022 

Gross  Salary 
(Bands of  
£5,000) 
jl---

Benefits 
in Kind 
£'000

Total Earnings 
in Year 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 
jl---

Pension 
Benefits 

£'000

Total 
Remuneration 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 
jl---

Remuneration of:
Executive Members
Interim Chief Executive: Michael Dickson (1) 90-95 0 90-95 0 90-95 
Director of Nursing, Midwifery and AHP:  
David McArthur 85-90 0 85-90 21 105-110 
Director of Finance: Mark Doyle  90-95 0 90-95 32 120-125 
Interim Director of Human Resources: Lorraine 
Hall (2) 75-80 0 75-80 0 75-80 
Medical Director: Mark Henry (3) 45-50 0 45-50 9 55-60 
Director of Public Health: Dr Louise Wilson   145-150 0 145-150 0 145-150 
Other Senior Employees
Director of Acute Services: Kim Wilson 115-120 0 115-120 28 140-145 

Non Executive Members
The Chair: Meghan McEwen 30-35 0 30-35 0 30-35 
David  Drever 5-10 0 5-10 0 5-10 
Caroline Evans  5-10 0 5-10 0 5-10 
James Stockan 5-10  0 5-10 0 5-10 
Isobel Grieve 5-10 0 5-10 0 5-10 
David Campbell  5-10 0 5-10 0 5-10 
Jason Taylor  5-10 0 5-10 0 5-10 
Joanna Kenny  5-10 0 5-10 0 5-10 
Des Ceasey (4) 0-5 0 0-5 0 0-5 
Steven Johnston (5) 100-105 0 100-105 30 130-135 
Fiona MacKellar (6) 50-55 0 50-55 13 60-65 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 

Note 1: AYffm It<f]Yb p opted out of the pension scheme 31/12/18, left NHS Orkney on 30/06/2020, gross salary would 
represent an annual range of £105,000-£110,000 

Note 2:       Michael Dickson - commenced as Interim Chief Executive for 2.5 days per week with effect from 01/07/2020, is 
seconded from NHS Shetland and pension benefits will be disclosed by them 

Note 3:  David McArthur p paid arrears of £1,737.53 in 2020/21 relating to 2019/20. Gross salary annual range would not 
change 

Note 4: Mark Doyle commenced substantive role 29/09/2020, gross salary would represent an annual range of £85,000-
£90,000. Interim Director of Finance 01/04/2020-24/09/2020 seconded from NHS Fife, total charges invoiced, 
pension benefits for this period will be disclosed by NHS Fife 

Note 5: Lorraine Hall p commenced as Interim Director of Human Resources for 2.5 days per week with effect from 
01/10/2020, is seconded from NHS Shetland and pension benefits will be disclosed by them 

Note 6: Marthinus Roos p left the NHS Orkney on 31/03/2021. PILON and Annual Leave due paid in April 2021, accrued at 
year end and added above. Gross salary would represent an annual range of £195,000-£200,000 

Note 7: Louise Wilson p paid arrears of £3,204 in 2020/21 relating to 2019/20, gross salary range would not change 

Note 8: Joanna Kenny p commenced 08/02/2021, gross salary would represent annual range £5,000-£10,000 

Note 9: S Johnston - The remuneration disclosed comprises remuneration for his role as Chair of Area Clinical Forum and 
his remuneration for his substantive post as a Dentist. The gross remuneration for his role as Non Executive Director 
would be in the annual range of £5,000 - £10,000. 

Note 10:  F Mackellar - the remuneration disclosed comprises remuneration for her role as Employee Director and her 
remuneration for her substantive post as a Physiotherapist. The gross remuneration for her role as a Non Executive 
Director is in the annual range of £5,000 - £10,000. 

Gross  Salary 
(Bands of  
£5,000) 
jl---

Benefits 
in Kind 
£'000

Total Earnings 
in Year 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 
jl---

Pension 
Benefits 

£'000

Total 
Remuneration 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 
jl---

Remuneration of:
Executive Members
Chief Executive: Gerry O'Brien (1) 25-30 0 25-30 0 25-30 
Interim Chief Executive: Michael Dickson (2) 65-70 0 65-70 0 65-70 
Director of Nursing, Midwifery and AHP:  
David McArthur (3) 105-110 0 105-110 22 125-130 
Director of Finance: Mark Doyle (4) 45-50 0 45-50 94 140-145 
Interim Director of Finance: Mark Doyle (4) 55-60 0 55-60 0 55-60 
Interim Director of Human Resources: Lorraine 
Hall (5) 35-40 0 35-40 0 35-40 
Medical Director: Marthinus Roos (6) 275-280 0 275-280 17 285-290 
Restated 
Director of Public Health: Dr Louise Wilson (7)  140-145 0 140-145 48 190-195 

Non Executive Members
The Chair: Meghan McEwen 30-35 0 30-35 0 30-35 
David  Drever 5-10 0 5-10 0 5-10 
Caroline Evans  5-10 0 5-10 0 5-10 
James Stockan 5-10  0 5-10 0 5-10 
Isobel Grieve 5-10 0 5-10 0 5-10 
David Campbell  5-10 0 5-10 0 5-10 
Jason Taylor  5-10 0 5-10 0 5-10 
Joanna Kenny (8) 0-5 0 0-5 0 0-5 
Steven Johnston (9) 100-105 0 100-105 31 130-135 
Fiona MacKellar (10) 45-50 0 45-50 20 65-70 



4
0

N
o
te

 1
:

M
ic

h
a
e
l D

ic
ks

o
n
 c

o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 a

s
 I
n
te

ri
m

 C
h
ie

f 
E

x
e
cu

tiv
e
 w

it
h
 e

ff
e
c
t 
fr

o
m

 0
1
/0

7
/2

0
2
0
. 
H

e
 is

 s
e
c
o
n
d
e
d
 f

ro
m

 N
H

S
 S

h
e
tla

n
d
 a

n
d
 p

e
n
s
io

n
 b

e
n
e
fi
ts

 w
ill

 b
e
 d

is
c
lo

s
e
d
 b

y 
th

e
m

N
o
te

 2
:

L
o
rr

a
in

e
 H

a
ll 

c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 a

s 
In

te
ri
m

 D
ir
e
ct

o
r 

o
f 
H

u
m

a
n
 R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 f
ro

m
 0

1
/1

0
/2

0
2
0
. 
S

h
e
 is

 s
e
c
o
n
d
e
d
 f
ro

m
 N

H
S

 S
h
e
tl
a

n
d
 a

n
d
 p

e
n
s
io

n
b
e
n
e
fi
ts

 w
ill

 b
e
 d

is
c
lo

s
e
d
 b

y 
th

e
m

N
o
te

 3
: 

M
a
rk

 H
e
n
ry

 c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 a

s
 M

e
d
ic

a
l 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
w

it
h
 e

ff
e
ct

 f
ro

m
 1

5
/1

1
/2

0
2
1

P
E

N
S

IO
N

 T
A

B
L

E

F
O

R
 T

H
E

 Y
E

A
R

 E
N

D
E

D
 3

1
 M

A
R

C
H

 2
0
2

2

T
o
ta

l 
a
cc

ru
e
d
 p

e
n
si

o
n
 a

t 
p
e
n
s
io

n
a
b
le

 a
g
e
 a

t 
3
1
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
2
2

R
e
a
l 
in

c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 

p
e
n
s
io

n
 a

t 
p
e
n
s
io

n
a
b
le

 a
g
e

A
cc

ru
e
d
 L

u
m

p
 

S
u
m

 a
s
 a

t 
a
g
e
 

6
5
 a

t 
3
1
 M

a
rc

h
 

2
0
2
2

R
e
a
l 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 

L
u
m

p
 S

u
m

 a
t 

a
g
e
 6

5
 

C
a
sh

 E
q
u
iv

a
le

n
t 

T
ra

n
sf

e
r 

V
a
lu

e
 

(C
E

T
V

) 
a
t 

3
1
 

M
a

rc
h
 2

0
2
2

C
a
s
h
 

E
q
u
iv

a
le

n
t 

T
ra

n
s
fe

r 
V

a
lu

e
 

(C
E

T
V

) 
a
t 

3
1
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
2
1

R
e
a
l i

n
cr

e
a
s
e
 

in
 C

E
T

V
 i
n
 

ye
a
r 

(B
a
n
d
s
 o

f 
£
5
,0

0
0
)

(B
a
n
d
s
 o

f 
£
2
,5

0
0
)

(B
a
n
d
s
 o

f 
£
5
,0

0
0
)

(B
a
n
d
s 

o
f 

£
2
,5

0
0
)

j
l-

-
-

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

In
te

ri
m

 C
h
ie

f 
E

xe
c
u
tiv

e
: 
M

ic
h
a
e
l 
D

ic
k
s
o
n
 (

1
)

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
o
f 
N

u
rs

in
g
, 
A

H
P

s
 &

 M
id

w
ife

ry
: 
D

a
v
id

 M
c
A

rt
h
u
r

1
0
-1

5
0
-2

.5
1
0
-1

5
0

2
3
1

2
0
2

2
8

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
o
f 
F

in
a
n
c
e
: 
M

a
rk

 D
o
yl

e
 

3
0
-3

5
0
-2

.5
6
5
-7

0
0
-2

.5
6
5
1

6
0
5

4
6

In
te

ri
m

 D
ir
e
ct

o
r 

o
f 

H
u
m

a
n

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s:

 L
o
rr

a
in

e
 H

a
ll 

(2
)

M
e
d
ic

a
l D

ir
e
ct

o
r:

 M
a
rk

 H
e
n
ry

(3
)

0
-5

0
-2

.5
0

0
1
1

0
1
1

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
o
f 
P

u
b
lic

 H
e
a
lt
h
: 

D
r 

L
o
u
is

e
 W

ils
o
n
 

6
5
-7

0
0

1
9
5
-2

0
0

0
1
,5

9
5

1
,5

9
3

2
N

o
n
 E

x
e
cu

tiv
e
 D

ir
e
c
to

r:
  
S

te
v
e
n
 J

o
h
n
s
to

n
 

2
0
-2

5
0
-2

.5
0

0
2
0
1

1
7
9

2
2

N
o
n
 E

x
e
cu

tiv
e
 D

ir
e
c
to

r:
  
F

io
n
a
 M

a
c
K

e
lle

r 
1
0
-1

5
0
-2

.5
2
5
-3

0
0

2
5
8

2
4
2

1
6

O
th

e
r 

S
e
n
io

r 
E

m
p
lo

y
e
e
: 
 K

im
 W

ils
o
n

4
5
-5

0
1
2
.5

-1
5
.0

1
4
5
-1

5
0

4
2
.5

-4
5

1
,1

0
0

7
5
8

3
2
8

T
o

ta
l

4
5
3



4
1

F
O

R
 T

H
E

 Y
E

A
R

 E
N

D
E

D
 3

1
 M

A
R

C
H

 2
0
2

1

N
o
te

 1
:

M
ic

h
a
e
lD

ic
ks

o
n
 c

o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 a

s
 I
n
te

ri
m

 C
h
ie

f 
E

xe
c
u
tiv

e
 w

it
h
 e

ff
e
ct

 f
ro

m
 0

1
/0

7
/2

0
2
0
. 
H

e
 is

 s
e
c
o
n
d
e
d
 f

ro
m

 N
H

S
 S

h
e
tla

n
d

a
n
d
 p

e
n
si

o
n
 b

e
n
e
fi
ts

 w
ill

 b
e
 d

is
c
lo

s
e
d
 b

y 
th

e
m

  

N
o
te

 2
:

M
a
rk

 D
o
y
le

 c
o
m

m
e

n
c
e
d
 s

u
b
s
ta

n
tiv

e
 r

o
le

 2
5
/0

9
/2

0
2
0

N
o
te

 3
: 

L
o
rr

a
in

e
 H

a
ll 

c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 a

s 
In

te
ri
m

 D
ir
e
ct

o
r 

o
f 
H

u
m

a
n
 R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 f
ro

m
 0

1
/1

0
/2

0
2
0
. 
S

h
e
 is

 s
e
c
o
n
d
e
d
 f
ro

m
 N

H
S

 S
h
e
tl
a

n
d
 a

n
d
 p

e
n
s
io

n
b
e
n
e
fi
ts

 w
ill

 b
e
 d

is
c
lo

s
e
d
 b

y 
th

e
m

  
  
  
  
  

T
o
ta

l 
a
cc

ru
e
d
 p

e
n
si

o
n
 a

t 
p
e
n
s
io

n
a
b
le

 a
g
e
 a

t 
3
1
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
2
1

R
e
a
l 
in

c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 

p
e
n
s
io

n
 a

t 
p
e
n
s
io

n
a
b
le

 a
g
e

A
cc

ru
e
d
 L

u
m

p
 

S
u
m

 a
s
 a

t 
a
g
e
 

6
5
 a

t 
3
1
 M

a
rc

h
 

2
0
2
1

R
e
a
l 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 

L
u
m

p
 S

u
m

 a
t 

a
g
e
 6

5
 

C
a
sh

 E
q
u
iv

a
le

n
t 

T
ra

n
sf

e
r 

V
a
lu

e
 

(C
E

T
V

) 
a
t 

3
1
 

M
a

rc
h
 2

0
2
1

C
a
s
h
 

E
q
u
iv

a
le

n
t 

T
ra

n
s
fe

r 
V

a
lu

e
 

(C
E

T
V

) 
a
t 

3
1
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
2
0

R
e
a
l i

n
cr

e
a
s
e
 

in
 C

E
T

V
 i
n
 

ye
a
r 

(B
a
n
d
s
 o

f 
£
5
,0

0
0
)

(B
a
n
d
s
 o

f 
£
2
,5

0
0
)

(B
a
n
d
s
 o

f 
£
5
,0

0
0
)

(B
a
n
d
s 

o
f 

£
2
,5

0
0
)

j
l-

-
-

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

=
\
]Y

Z
?

l
Y
W
i
h]
j
Y
8
A

Y
ff

m
I

t<
f]
Y
b

3
5
-4

0
0

1
1
0
-1

1
5

0
8
7
4

8
5
8

1
6

In
te

ri
m

 C
h
ie

f 
E

xe
c
u
tiv

e
: 
M

ic
h
a
e
l 
D

ic
k
s
o
n
 (

1
)

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
o
f 
N

u
rs

in
g
, 
A

H
P

s
 &

 M
id

w
ife

ry
: 
D

a
v
id

 M
c
A

rt
h
u
r

5
-1

0
0
-2

.5
1
0
-1

5
(0

)-
(2

.5
)

1
9
6

1
6
8

2
8

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
o
f 
F

in
a
n
c
e
: 
M

a
rk

 D
o
yl

e
 (

2
)

2
5
-3

0
2
.5

-5
6
5
-7

0
7
.5

-1
0

5
8
7

4
8
8

9
8

In
te

ri
m

 D
ir
e
ct

o
r 

o
f 
H

u
m

a
n

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s:

 L
o
rr

a
in

e
 H

a
ll 

(3
)

M
e
d
ic

a
l D

ir
e
ct

o
r:

 M
a

rt
h
in

u
s
 R

o
o
s 

5
0
-5

5
0
-2

.5
1
5
5
-1

6
0

5
-7

.5
1
,2

6
5

1
,2

2
0

1
9

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
o
f 
P

u
b
lic

 H
e
a
lt
h
: 

D
r 

L
o
u
is

e
 W

ils
o
n
 -

R
e
s
ta

te
d

6
0
-6

5
2
.5

-5
1
8
0
-1

8
5

1
0
-1

2
.5

1
,4

4
8

1
,3

3
1

8
2

N
o
n
 E

x
e
cu

tiv
e
 D

ir
e
c
to

r:
  
S

te
v
e
n
 J

o
h
n
s
to

n
 

1
5
-2

0
0
-2

.5
0

0
1
7
4

1
5
2

2
2

N
o
n
 E

x
e
cu

tiv
e
 D

ir
e
c
to

r:
  
F

io
n
a
 M

a
c
K

e
lle

r 
-

R
e
st

a
te

d
1
0
-1

5
0
-2

.5
2
5
-3

0
0
-2

.5
2
3
5

2
1
3

2
2

T
o

ta
l

2
8
7



42 

Additional Disclosure in respect of Hutton Review on Fair Pay in the Public 
Sector 

The Hutton Review reported its recommendations on disclosure of public sector pay 
in March 2011. The additional disclosure compares the banded remuneration of the 
highest paid Director against the median salary for the workforce each year. This 
disclosure is subject to audit.  

2021/22 2020/21 % Change 
Range of staff 
remuneration (£000s) 

10-219 
Range of staff remuneration 
(£000s) 

8-286 

B][\Ygh ?Ufb]b[ >]fYWhcftg
Total Remuneration* 
(£000s) 

145-150 
B][\Ygh ?Ufb]b[ >]fYWhcftg
Total Remuneration (£000s) 

285-290 (49)

Median (salary only)  £34,230 Median (salary only) £33,256 3 
Ratio 4.32 Ratio 8.61 
25th Percentile (salary 
only) 

£26,792 

Ratio 6 
75th Percentile (salary 
only) 

£49,081 

Ratio 3.02 
Commentary 
The values above are based on salaries for full time equivalent pay.  

*EQN 4WJZMe[ :RPQN[\ 7JZVRVP 6RZNL\WZ RV .,.,+.- %>NMRLJT 6RZNL\WZ& TNO\ /-*,/*.,.- ZN[]T\RVP RV J MZWX OZWU RV ZJ\RW OZWU 2*11 in 
2020/21 to 4.32 in 2021/22  

Remuneration Committee 

The Remuneration Committee ensures that arrangements are in place to comply with 
NHS Orkney policy and Scottish Government direction and guidance for determining 
the employment, remuneration and terms and conditions of employment, The 
committee is also responsible for approving the personal objectives of all Executive 
Directors.  

Membership of the Remuneration Committee comprises: 

Meghan McEwen  (Chair) From 
James Stockan (Vice Chair)        
David Campbell         (Non Executive Board Member)  
Fiona MacKellar  (Employee Director) 

During 2021/22 the Remuneration Committee met 3 times. 

Remuneration  

Remuneration of Board members and senior employees is determined in line with 
directions issued by Scottish Government.  All posts at this level are subject to rigorous 
job evaluation arrangements and the pay scales reflect the outcomes of these 
processes. All extant policy guidance issued has been appropriately applied and 
agreed by the Remuneration Committee.  

9_QbT DU]RUbcl :_^dbQcts of Employment 

The Executive Board members of NHS Orkney are employed on permanent contracts 
of employment which require a minimum of three months notice. The Non-Executive 
members are ministerial appointments on contracts of between two and four years. 
The terms and conditions of Executive and Senior Management Cohort and Non-
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Executive Members including annual remuneration, and any entitlement to severance 
pay, is determined by the Scottish Government under Ministerial Direction and in 
accordance with relevant updates to Pay and Conditions of Service issued. 

Performance Appraisal  

Performance appraisals for executive members are carried out in line with guidance 
and overseen by the Remuneration Committee. Annual pay rises for executive 
directors are dependent on achieving specified levels of performance.  

B) STAFF REPORT 

1. The Workforce/ Staff Governance 

Covid-19 brought many challenges and highlighted the real value of working together.  
N\Y <cUfXtg MhUZZ AcjYfbUbWY ;Wh]cb J`Ub gYh U ghfetching and challenging set of 
activities (not all to be delivered in one year) across each of the pillars of Staff 
Governance: well informed, appropriately trained and developed, involved 
in decisions, treated fairly and consistently, with dignity and respect, in an environment 
where diversity is valued and Provided with a continuously improving and safe working 
environment, promoting the health and wellbeing of staff, patients and the 
wider community.  The Committee receive an update on progress at each meeting. 

To enable us to deliver quality patient services we need to ensure that we attract, 
recruit and retain staff.  Enabling and supporting staff to be the best that they can be 
is a key aspiration and to empower means that we need to be an employer that listens. 
We recognise that being a listening employer is something that we have to work at 
continuously with staff to ensure that we build together a culture of one that hears, 
listens and takes action in a caring, compassionate and thoughtful way. 

An Interim Workforce Plan covering 1 April 2021 p 31 March 2022 is in place. Work is 
continuing alongside counterparts in the Orkney Island Council (OIC) to prepare a 
three year integrated workforce plan which will be published in October 2022.  The 
three year Workforce Plan will use the Five Pillars of Workforce Planning outlined 
within the National Workforce Strategy (Plan, Attract, Train, Employ, Nurture) as the 
basis for outlining proposed actions to secure sufficient workforce to meet local 
projected short-term recovery and medium-term growth requirements across Orkney 
health and social care services.  We are very conscious that our plan needs to meet 
the needs of the service, the aspiration for the future as spelled out in the clinical 
strategy and Governments ambitions, whilst delivering within a tight financial budget.  

In 2021/22, we recruited 281 colleagues, 110 were internal and 171 were external (160 
permanent, 78 Fixed term, and 53 Bank p which include 10 secondments and 13 
Locums Appointed for Service Doctors). 

Throughout the year the use of agency medical, nursing and Allied Health Professional 
staffing has remained at a high level.  This continued to be necessary during 2021/22 
to cover critical roles whilst meeting our Covid-19 service requirements and to 
remobilise our services with the board. We have been working with key clinical 
colleagues to determine the roles for the future and to look at innovative ways to recruit.  
We have signed an agreement around locum costs and usage that will support not 
only gaining quality candidates but capping the price structure wherever possible. 
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Staff Support and Wellbeing 

The revised Wellbeing Champion Group took place on 25th November. The group is 
]bW`ig]jY cZ aYaVYfg Zfca h\Y s@]h 0t [fcid k\]W\ dfYWYXYX h\Y MhUZZ QY``VY]b[ Afcid
along with new members to cover a wider demographic.  A bid is in progress to the 
Endowments Trustees to look at how we can support staff improve physical fitness.  A 
number of Display Screen Equipment (DSE) Assessments have taken place to ensure 
that staff are working with equipment in the right way and that breaks are being taken.  
The Wellbeing Champion Gfcid giddcfhYX h\Y =UadU][b s@fiendly FebriUfmt - actions 
for happiness and engaging with Corporate Communications Team ensure that for 
each blog newsletter there are signposts to staff wellbeing activities. The group will be 
looking at a calendar of Wellbeing events in conjunction with NHS Shetland in the new 
financial year.

Occupational Health continue to provide ongoing support to the organisation as part 
of recruitment, referrals and general wellbeing.  Two of the Occupational Health nurses 
have completed their audiometry and spirometry training to support colleagues in the 
organisation and also small and medium sized enterprises (SM?tg) as part of providing 
a wider service to the Community. 

Organisational Development 

HBM If_bYm dUfh]W]dUhYg ]b ]GUhhYf* HBM MWch`UbXtg MhUZZ ?ldYf]YbWY Wcbh]bicig
improvement tool.

The use of iMatter is aimed to help individuals, teams, directorates and Board to 
understand and improve experiences. This term is used to describe the extent to which 
colleagues feel supported, cared for and motivated at work, and it is reflected in levels 
of engagement, motivation and productivity. 

This year the Organisational Development team introduced iMatter awareness 
sessions designed to ensure all line managers were equipped with the tools to create 
and implement improvement plans within their teams. Improvement plans are captured 
cb hYUa sghcfmVcUfXgt k\]W\ UfY XYgigned to allow colleagues the ability to monitor and 
measure their progress prior to the next iMatter (the process is usually completed 
annually).  This year 29 managers attended the iMatter awareness sessions; and 67 
hYUa sMhcfmVcUfXgt kYfY WfYUhYX UWfcgg the Board. 

Training and Education 

Early in 2020 the Learning & Development (L&D) team rolled out an online learning 
magazine self-service, learning management system, to the organisation. With Covid-
19, staff were advised to work from home and the new system proved to be difficult 
due to accessibility issues. Unfortunately, the team had to return to booking all staff 
onto training manually. For the team, with Covid-19 the focus soon changed to 
supporting with inducting emergency new starts and covering all the necessary training 
- coordinating start dates, inductions, and training sessions. Also, during this period, 
the L&D team heavily supported the organisation by co-ordinating and recording all 
training that took place in the surge and ventilation units. 

Due to Covid-19 the team have had to develop new ways of working, including the 
development of a digital induction for new starts and students as well as new 
processes for onboarding. The team have had to explore and adapt the way that 
training is delivered. With the rollout of Microsoft Teams there have been opportunities 
to offer many sessions via video conferencing. Microsoft Teams has also been utilised 
for creating groups such as a line managers page with all information on onboarding 
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new starts, training and development opportunities and information on all statutory and 
mandatory learning requirements. The team have supported the move from the 
LearnPro training system, an unsupported and outdated training platform, to TURAS 
learn and been heavily involved in supporting the organisation with the requirements 
of the Health and Safety Executive. 

2. Staff Costs 

The following table summarises total staff costs and numbers for 2021/22 and the prior 
year:

2020/21 2021/22

Total

Executive 
Board 

Members

Non 
Executive 
Members

Permanent 
Staff

Inward 
Secondees

Other 
Staff

Outward 
Secondees Total

jl--- STAFF COSTS jl--- jl--- £'000 £'000 jl--- £'000 jl---

27,679 Salaries and wages 574 243 26,988  27,805 

2,751 
Taxation and Social 
security costs 49 22 2,765  2,836 

4,599 
NHS scheme employers' 
costs 78 28 4,689  4,795 

261 Secondees 552 (233) 319 

4,857 Agency staff  4,214  4,214 

40,147 701 293 34,442 552 4,214 (233) 39,969 

89 
Compensation for loss of 
office or early retirement 0 0 6 0 0 0 6 

40,236 TOTAL 701 293 34,448 552 4,214 (233) 39,975 

There were no staff engaged directly on capital projects in 2021/22 (2020/21 nil). 

£3.7m of total staff costs for 2021/22 relate to Covid-19 expenditure (2020/21 £5.5m). 

The staff costs are included under Note 3a £40.208m and Note 4 income £232,000 (£100,000 relates to other NHS 
Scotland bodies). 

Staff Numbers 

672
Whole Time Equivalent 
(WTE) 4 11 624 7 40 (3) 683

0
Included in the total staff numbers above were staff engaged directly on capital projects, charged to capital expenditure 

of: 0

6 Included in the total staff numbers above were disabled staff of: 8

3. Staff Composition 

As at 31 March 
2021 As at 31 March 2022

Male Female Total Male Female Total

Executive Directors 4 2 6 5 2 7 
Non-Executive Directors and Employee 
Director 5 5 10 5 5 10 

Senior Employees 21 19 40 22 25 47 
Other 110 552 662 115 577 692 

Total Head Count 140 578 718 147 609 756
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4. Higher Paid Employees Remuneration 

2020/21 2021/22 
Number Number 

Clinicians 
5 £70,001   to   £80,000 6 
5 £80,001   to   £90,000 5 
5 £90,001   to £100,000 3 
3 £100,001 to £110,000 5 
2 £110,001 to £120,000 0 
2 £120,001 to £130,000 2 
2 £130,001 to £140,000 5 
4 £140,001 to £150,000 1 
3 £150,001 to £160,000 0 
0 £160,001 to £170,000 1 
0 £170,001 to £180,000 0 
0 £180,001 to £190,000 0 
1 £190,001 to £200,000 0 
2 £200,001 and above 2 

Other 
3 £70,001   to   £80,000 2 
0 £80,001   to   £90,000 1 
3 £90,001   to   £100,000 6 
1 £100,001 to   £110,000 0 
0 £110,001 to   £120,000 1 

5. Sickness Absence Data 

NHS Orkney proactively manage staff who are absent in the workplace due to 
sickness. Staff are supported and encouraged to return to work as soon as possible 
which may include adjustment programmes longer than 4 weeks when clinically 
justified.  With an aging workforce, people take longer to recover from accidents and 
]b^if]Yg UbX ]htg dUfUacibh h\Uh h\Ym VY giddcfhYX hc fYhifb hc kcf_ Ug gccb Ug dcgg]V`Y,

Our overall sickness absence rate continues to be higher than that of the National Heat 
Standard of 4% and Orkney have for a number of years now been in the middle of the 
NHS Scotland Pack.  The Wellbeing group has been re-established to look at ways in 
which we can support and maintain staff wellbeing and resilience. Along with all Boards 
in Scotland the main areas of focus are Musko-skeletal, anxiety stress and depression.  
Alongside the Wellbeing group we will consult with staff and Area Partnership Forum 
about ways in which we can offer wider support to reduce the number of staff of where 
we can with the symptoms above.  

2020/21 2021/22 

Sickness absence data 4.9% 4.9% 

6. Staff Policies applied during the year relating to employment of disabled 
persons 

All health boards across NHS Scotland are required to comply with the three aims of 
the Public Sector General Duty, Equality Act (2010) and (Specific Duties) (Scotland) 
Regulations 2012, outlined below. The implementation of these legal duties will be 
monitored by the Equality and Human Rights Commission in Scotland. 

The purpose of the Public Sector General Equality Duty is to ensure that all public 
bodies, including health boards, mainstream equality into their day to day business by 
proactively advancing equality, encouraging good community relations and addressing 
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discrimination. The current duty requires equality to be considered in relation to key 
health board functions including the development of internal and external policies, 
decision making processes, procurement, workforce support, service delivery and 
improving outcomes for patients/service users. 

The Board is committed to ensuring the elimination of all forms of discrimination on the 
basis of race, disability, age, gender, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, 
pregnancy and maternity, marriage and civil partnership, religion or beliefs. 

Our work in each of these areas is designed to: 

� eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited under this Act 

� advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it 

� foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

The disability policy can be found at the NHS Orkney website. 

This year four colleagues within Human Resources attended a two-day training 
session with the Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) on Disability 
Discrimination and Reasonable Adjustments within the workplace.  This module was 
to receive additional training and expert advice to assist with current and future 
reasonable adjustments, and to provide clarity on what is meant by reasonable and 
the legal areas surrounding reasonable adjustments. 

7. Exit Packages 

There were no compulsory redundancies in 2021/22 or 2020/21. There was one exit 
package in 2020/21 and 2021/22: 

2021/22 

Exit package cost band
Number of other 

departures agreed

Cost of exit 
packages 

jl---

<£10,000 1 6 

Total exit packages 1 6

2020/21 

Exit package cost band
Number of other 

departures agreed

Cost of exit 
packages 

jl---

£50,000 - £100,000 1 89 

Total exit packages 1 89
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8. Trade Union Regulations 

The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017 came 
into force on 1 April 2017. The regulations place a legislative requirement on relevant 
public sector employers to collate and publish, on an annual basis, a range of data on 
the amount and cost of facility time within their organisation. 

Number of employees who were 
relevant union officials during the 

period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 

Full-time equivalent 
employee number 

21 18 

Percentage of time spent on facility time 

Percentage of time Number of 
representatives

0% 10 

1 - 50% 11 

51-99% 0 

100% 0 

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time 

Total cost of facility time £15,051 

Total pay bill £40,208,036 

Percentage of the total pay bill spent on 
facility time 

0.04% 

Paid trade union activities 

Time spent on paid trade union activities 
as a percentage of total paid facility time 
hours 

3% 
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C) PARLIAMENTARY ACCOUNTABILITY  

1. Losses and Special Payments 

On occasion the Board may be required to write off balances which are no longer 
recoverable. Losses and special payments over £250k require formal approval to 
regularise such transactions and their notation in the annual accounts of which none 
arose in 2021/22 or 2020/21. 

There were no special payments written off during 2021/22 or 2020/21, however, the 
losses accounted for are as follows:-  

2021/22 2020/21
No. of cases £'000 No. of cases £'000

Losses 18 2 19 2 

The Board is also required to provide for CNORIS claims notified to it and which will 
be settled at a future date; details of these provisions can be found in note 13. 

2. Fees and Charges 

As required in the fees and charges guidance in the SPFM, NHS Orkney charges for 
services provided on a full cost recovery basis, wherever applicable.  

There were no material amounts in 2021/22 or 2020/21. 

3. Contingent Liabilities 

There were no contingent liabilities in 2021/22 or 2020/21. 

Signed  Date 23 June 2022 

Michael Dickson 
Interim Chief Executive  
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Independent auditorls report to the members of Orkney Health Board, the 
Auditor General for Scotland and the Scottish Parliament 

Reporting on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion on financial statements 

I have audited the financial statements in the annual report and accounts of Orkney 

Health Board and its group for the year ended 31 March 2022 under the National 

Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978. The financial statements comprise the Statement 

of Consolidated Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Consolidated Statement of 

Financial Position, the Statement of Consolidated Cash Flows, the Statement of 

Consolidated =\Ub[Yg ]b NUldUmYfgt ?ei]hm UbX bchYg hc h\Y UWWcibhg* ]bW`iX]b[

significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been 

applied in their preparation is applicable law and UK adopted international accounting 

standards, as interpreted and adapted by the 2021/22 Government Financial 

Reporting Manual (the 2021/22 FReM). 

In my opinion the accompanying financial statements: 

� give a true and fair view in accordance with the National Health Service 

(Scotland) Act 1978 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers 

of the state of the affairs of the board and its group as at 31 March 2022 and of 

the net expenditure for the year then ended; 

� have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted international 

accounting standards, as interpreted and adapted by the 2021/22 FReM; and 

� have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National Health 

Service (Scotland) Act 1978 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish 

Ministers.  

Basis for opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards 

on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)), as required by the Code of Audit Practice approved by 

the Auditor General for Scotland. My responsibilities under those standards are further 

XYgWf]VYX ]b h\Y UiX]hcftg fYgdcbg]V]`]h]Yg Zcf h\Y UiX]h cZ h\Y Z]bUbW]U` ghUhYaYbhg

section of my report. I was appointed by the Auditor General on 18 July 2016. The 

period of total uninterrupted appointment is six years. I am independent of the board 

and its group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit 

of the financial statements in the UK including the Financial Reportib[ =cibW]`tg ?h\]WU`

Standard, and I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements. Non-audit services prohibited by the Ethical Standard were not provided 

to the board. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern basis of accounting 

I have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 

preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 
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Based on the work I have performed, I have not identified any material uncertainties 

relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant 

doubt on the ability of the board and its group to continue to adopt the going concern 

basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial 

statements are authorised for issue. 

N\YgY WcbW`ig]cbg UfY bch ]bhYbXYX hc* bcf Xc h\Ym* dfcj]XY UggifUbWY cb h\Y VcUfXtg

current or future financial sustainabil]hm, BckYjYf* C fYdcfh cb h\Y VcUfXtg UffUb[YaYbhg

for financial sustainability in a separate Annual Audit Report available from the Audit 

Scotland website. 

Risks of material misstatement 

I report in my Annual Audit Report the most significant assessed risks of material 

misstatement that I identified and my judgements thereon. 

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer for the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Chief Executive's Responsibilities as 

the Accountable Officer, the Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of 

financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the financial 

reporting framework, and for such internal control as the Accountable Officer 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for 

assessing the ability of the board and its group to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 

basis of accounting unless there is an intention to discontinue the boarXtg cdYfUh]cbg,

8eTYd_blc bUc`_^cYRY\YdYUc V_b dXU QeTYd _V dXU VY^Q^SYQ\ cdQdU]U^dc

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error, and hc ]ggiY Ub UiX]hcftg fYdcfh h\Uh ]bW`iXYg am cd]b]cb, LYUgcbUV`Y UggifUbWY

is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of 

users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and 

regulations. I design procedures in line with my responsibilities outlined above to detect 

material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. Procedures include: 

� obtaining an understanding of the applicable legal and regulatory framework 

and how the board is complying with that framework; 

� identifying which laws and regulations are significant in the context of the board; 

� assessing the susceptibility of the financial statements to material 

misstatement, including how fraud might occur; and 
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� considering whether the audit team collectively has the appropriate competence 

and capabilities to identify or recognise non-compliance with laws and 

regulations. 

The extent to which my procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including 

fraud, is affected by the inherent difficulty in detecting irregularities, the effectiveness 

cZ h\Y VcUfXtg Wcbhfc`g* UbX h\Y bUhifY* h]a]b[ UbX YlhYbh cZ h\Y UiX]h dfcWYXifYg

performed. 

Irregularities that result from fraud are inherently more difficult to detect than 

irregularities that result from error as fraud may involve collusion, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. The capability of the 

audit to detect fraud and other irregularities depends on factors such as the skilfulness 

of the perpetrator, the frequency and extent of manipulation, the degree of collusion 

involved, the relative size of individual amounts manipulated, and the seniority of those 

individuals involved. 

A furthYf XYgWf]dh]cb cZ h\Y UiX]hcftg fYgdcbg]V]`]h]Yg Zcf h\Y UiX]h cZ h\Y Z]bUbW]U`

statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website 

www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities, N\]g XYgWf]dh]cb Zcfag dUfh cZ am UiX]hcftg

report. 

Reporting on regularity of expenditure and income 

Opinion on regularity 

In my opinion in all material respects the expenditure and income in the financial 

statements were incurred or applied in accordance with any applicable enactments 

and guidance issued by the Scottish Ministers. 

Responsibilities for regularity 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and 

income. In addition to my responsibilities in respect of irregularities explained in the 

audit of the financial statements section of my report, I am responsible for expressing 

an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in accordance with the Public 

Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. 

Reporting on other requirements 

Opinion prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland on the audited part of 

the Remuneration and Staff Report 

I have audited the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report described as audited. 

In my opinion, the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report has been properly 

prepared in accordance with the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 and 

directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers. 

Other information  

The Accountable Officer is responsible for other information in the annual report and 

accounts. The other information comprises the Performance Report and the 

Accountability Report excluding the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report.  
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My responsibility is to read all the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 

the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my 

knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. If I identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 

misstatements, I am required to determine whether this gives rise to a material 

misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work I have 

performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, I 

am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do 

not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon except on the Performance 

Report and Governance Statement to the extent explicitly stated in the following 

opinions prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland. 

Opinions prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland on the Performance 

Report and Governance Statement 

In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

� the information given in the Performance Report for the financial year for which 

the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements 

and that report has been prepared in accordance with the National Health 

Service (Scotland) Act 1978 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish 

Ministers; and 

� the information given in the Governance Statement for the financial year for 

which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 

statements and that report has been prepared in accordance with the National 

Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 and directions made thereunder by the 

Scottish Ministers. 

Matters on which I am required to report by exception 

I am required by the Auditor General for Scotland to report to you if, in my opinion: 

� adequate accounting records have not been kept; or 

� the financial statements and the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff 

Report are not in agreement with the accounting records; or 

� I have not received all the information and explanations I require for my audit; 

or 

� there has been a failure to achieve a prescribed financial objective. 

I have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 

Conclusions on wider scope responsibilities 

In addition to my responsibilities for the annual report and accounts, my conclusions 

on the wider scope responsibilities specified in the Code of Audit Practice are set out 

in my Annual Audit Report. 
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Use of my report 

This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with 

the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and for no other purpose. 

In accordance with paragraph 120 of the Code of Audit Practice, I do not undertake to 

have responsibilities to members or officers, in their individual capacities, or to third 

parties. 

Gillian Woolman MA FCA CPFA 

Audit Director 

Audit Scotland 

4th Floor 

102 Westport 

Edinburgh 

EH3 9DN 

$%"&)('"$#$$
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STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE NET EXPENDITURE 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

2020/21 
Restated 

£'000

2021/22 

£'000
Notes 

Total income and expenditure

40,435 Employee expenditure 3 40,208 

Other operating expenditure: 

6,823  Independent Primary Care Services 3 6,433 

8,693 Drugs and medical supplies 3 8,775 

67,750 Other health care expenditure 3 71,931 

123,701 Gross Expenditure for the year 127,347

(41,788) Less: Other Operating Income 4 (43,168) 

(991) 
Associates and joint ventures accounted 
for on an equity basis (1,880) 

80,922 Net expenditure for the year 82,299

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE NET EXPENDITURE 

2020/21 
Restated 2021/22

£'000 £'000

0 Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of Property Plant and Equipment (4,042)

(158) Net (gain)/loss on revaluation investments (43) 

(158) Other Comprehensive Expenditure (4,085) 

80,764 Comprehensive net expenditure 78,214

The Notes to the Accounts, numbered 1 to 25, form an integral part of these Accounts. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 MARCH 2022 

31 March 2021 31 March 2022

Consolidated Board Consolidated Board

jl--- jl--- Notes jl--- jl---

Non-Current Assets:

71,388 71,388 Property, plant and equipment 7c 75,066 75,066 

400 400 Intangible assets 6a 276 276 

  Financial assets: 

991 0 Investments 10 1,013 0 

1,162 0 
Investments in associates and 
joint ventures 

3,042 0 

8 8 Trade and other receivables 9 12 12 

73,949 71,796 Total non-current assets 79,409 75,354

Current Assets:

722 722 Inventories 8 833 833 

  Financial assets: 

877 874 Trade and other receivables 9 1,044 1,044 

2,232 2,107  Cash and cash equivalents 11 352 234 

41 41 
Assets classified as held for 
sale 7b 100 100 

3,872 3,744 Total current assets 2,329 2,211

77,821 75,540 Total assets 81,738 77,565

Current liabilities

(367) (367) Provisions 13a (327) (327) 

Financial liabilities: 

(11,874) (11,870) Trade and other payables 12 (15,487) (15,480) 

(12,241) (12,237) Total current liabilities (15,814) (15,807)

65,580 63,303
Non-current assets plus/less 
net current assets/liabilities 65,924 61,758

Non-current liabilities

(1,177) (1,177) Provisions 13a (1,177) (1,177) 

0 0 Trade and other payables 12 0 0 

(1,177) (1,177) Total non-current liabilities (1,177) (1,177)

64,403 62,126 Assets less liabilities 64,747 60,581

Taxpayers' Equity

61,310 61,310 General fund SOCTE 55,800 55,800 

816 816 Revaluation reserve SOCTE 4,781 4,781 

1,162 0 
Other reserves p associates 
and joint ventures SOCTE

3,042 0 

1,115 0 Funds held on Trust SOCTE 1,124 0 

64,403 62,126 Total taxpayers' equity 64,747 60,581

The Notes to the Accounts, numbered 1 to 25, form an integral part of these Accounts. 

The financial statements on pages 55 to 58 were approved by the board on 23 June 2022 and signed on their behalf by  

.........................................................................Director of Finance     ....................................................................Chief Executive 

Date: 23 June 2022
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STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED CASHFLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

2020/21 2021/22

jl--- Notes jl--- jl---

Cash flows from operating activities

(80,922) Net expenditure SOCTE (82,299) 

1,625 Adjustments for non-cash transactions 2b 586   

3,180 Movements in working capital 2b 5,103   

(76,117) Net cash outflow from operating activities (76,610)

Cash flows from investing activities

(898) Purchase of property, plant and equipment (2,175) 

(20) Purchase of intangible assets 0

(38) Investment Additions 10 (21) 

63 Proceeds of disposal of property, plant and equipment 171 

52 Receipts from sale of investments 42   

(841) Net cash outflow from investing activities (1,983)

Cash flows from financing activities

76,954 Funding SOCTE 78,589   

701 Movement in general fund working capital SOCTE (1,876)

77,655 Cash drawn down 76,713   

77,655 Net Financing 76,713

697 Net Increase in cash and cash equivalents in the period (1,880)

1,535 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 2,232 

2,232 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 352

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt/cash

697 Increase in cash in year (1,880)

1,535 Net debt/cash at 1 April 2,232 

2,232 Net debt/cash at 31 March 352

The Notes to the Accounts, numbered 1 to 25, form an integral part of these Accounts. 
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JK8K<D<EK F= :FEJFC@;8K<; :?8E><J @E K8OG8P<IJl <HL@KP

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

The Notes to the Accounts, numbered 1 to 25, form an integral part of these Accounts. 

Notes
General 

Fund
Revaluation 

Reserve
IJB 

Reserve

Funds 
Held on 

Trust
Total 

Reserves

jl--- jl--- jl--- jl--- jl---

Balance at 31 March 2021 61,310 816 1,162 1,115 64,403

Changes in taxpayers' equity for 2021-22

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation/indexation of 
property, plant and equipment 

7a
0 4,041 0  0 4,041 

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of 
investments 

10
 0 0 0 43 43 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 0 (138) 0 0 (138) 

Impairment of intangible assets 6 0 (64) 0 0 (64) 

Revaluation and impairments taken to 
operating Costs 2a 0 172 0 0 172 

Transfers between reserves 46 (46) 0  0 0 

Net operating cost for the year SOCNE (84,145)  0 1,880 (34) (82,299)

Total recognised income and expense 
for 2021-22 (84,099) 3,965 1,880 9 (78,245) 

Funding:

Drawn down 76,713  0 0  0 76,713 

Movement in General Fund (Creditor) / 
Debtor 

CFS
1,876  0 0  0 1,876

Balance at 31 March 2022 SoFP 55,800 4,781 3,042 1,124 64,747

Balance at 31 March 2020 66,299 851 171 892 68,213

Changes in taxpayers' equity for 2020-21

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation/indexation of 
property, plant and equipment 

7a
0 0 0  0 0 

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of 
investments 

10
 0 0 0 158 158 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 0 (237) 0 0 (237) 

Impairment of intangible assets 6 0 (13) 0 0 (13) 
Revaluation and impairments taken to 
operating Costs 2a 0 250 0 0 250 

Transfers between reserves 35 (35) 0  0 0 
Other non cash costs - transfer of asset 
NHS Highland 0 0 0 0 0 

Net operating cost for the year SOCNE (81,978)  0  991 65 (80,922) 

Total recognised income and expense 
for 2020-21 (81,943) (35) 991 223 (80,764)

Funding:

Drawn down 77,655  0 0  0 77,655 
Movement in General Fund (Creditor) / 
Debtor 

CFS
(701)  0 0  0 (701) 

Balance at 31 March 2021 SoFP 61,310 816 1,162 1,115 64,403
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

NOTE 1 k ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

1. Authority 

In accordance with the accounts direction issued by Scottish Ministers under section 
19(4) of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 appended, these 
Accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Government Financial Reporting 
Manual (FReM) issued by HM Treasury, which follows International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS as adopted by the EU), IFRIC 
Interpretations and the Companies Act 2006 to the extent that they are meaningful and 
appropriate to the public sector. They have been applied consistently in dealing with 
items considered material in relation to the accounts.  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its 
judgement in the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving a 
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in section 30 below:  

Disclosure of New Accounting Standards 

(a) New standards in 2021/22: 

There are no new standards, amendments and interpretations that became effective 
in 2021/22 for the first time. 

(b) Standards amendments and interpretation adopted early this year: 

There are no new standards, amendments or interpretations adopted early this 
financial year. 

(c) Standards issued but not yet effective: 

The following standards have been issued but are not yet effective: 

� IFRS 16 p Leases (IAS 17 - replacement); 
� IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts. 

The impact to the financial statements as a result of the above is expected to be 
minimal, with the exception of IFRS 16 p Leases. 

IFRS 16 Leases supersedes IAS 17 Leases and is being applied by HM Treasury 
in the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) from 1 April 2022. IFRS 16 
introduces a single lessee accounting model that results in a more faithful 
fYdfYgYbhUh]cb cZ U `YggYYtg UggYhg UbX liabilities and provides enhanced 
disclosures to improve transparency of reporting on capital employed. 

Under IFRS 16, lessees are required to recognise assets and liabilities for leases 
with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. 
Q\]`Y bc ghUbXUfX XYZ]b]h]cb cZ s`ck jU`iYt \Ug VYYb aUbXUhYX* HBM MWch`UbX \UjY
elected to utilise the capitalisation threshold of £5,000 to determine the assets to be 
disclosed. All existing operating leases will fall within the scope of IFRS 16 under 
s[fUbXZUh\Yf]b[t fi`Yg aUbXUhYX ]b h\Y @LYG Zcf h\Y ]b]h]U` hfUbg]h]cb hc C@LM /4, Cb
future years new contracts and contract negotiations will be reviewed for 
consideration under IFRS 16 as implicitly identified right-of-us assets. Assets 
recognised under IFRS 16 will be held on the Statement of Financial Position as (i) 
right-of-use assets which fYdfYgYbh h\Y <cUfXtg f][\h hc igY h\Y ibXYf`m]b[
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leased asset; and (ii) lease liabilities which represent the obligation to make lease 
payments.  

The bringing of leased assets onto the Statement of Financial Position will require 
depreciation and interest to be charged on the right-of-use asset and lease liability, 
respectively. Cash repayments will also be recognised in the Statement of Cash 
Flows, as required by IAS 7.  

Impact of the new standard 

The Board has assessed the likely impact that the application of IFRS 16 would 
have on the Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the financial year ending 31 March 
2023 and on the Statement of Financial Position at that date. The figures below are 
based on the opening position of existing leases as of 31 March 2022. 

The standard is expected to increase total expenditure in 2022-23 by £2k. Right-of-
use assets totalling £0.450 million will be brought onto the Statement of Financial 
Position, with an associated lease liability of £0.458 million.  

2. Basis of Consolidation 

Consolidation 

In accordance with IFRS 10 p Consolidated Financial Statements, the Financial 
Statements consolidate the Orkney Health Board Endowment Funds.  

NHS Endowment Funds were established by the NHS (Scotland) Act 1978. The legal 
framework under which charities operate in Scotland is the Charities and Trustee 
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005. Under the 1978 Act Endowment Trustees are also 
members of the NHS Board. The Board members (who are also Trustees) are appointed 
by Scottish Ministers. 

The Orkney Health Board Endowment Funds is a Registered Charity with the Office of 
the Charity Regulator of Scotland (OSCR) and is required to prepare and submit Audited 
Financial Statements to OSCR on an annual basis. 

The basis of consolidation used is Merger Accounting. Any intra-group transactions 
between the Board and the Endowment Fund have been eliminated on consolidation. 

The integration of health and social care services under the terms of the Public Bodies 
(Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014 and associated secondary legislation impacts on 
Health Board disclosure requirements in the annual accounts. 

In accordance with IAS 28 p Investments in Associates and Joint Arrangements, the 
primary financial statements have been amended for the additional disclosure required 
to accurately reflect the interest of IJBs using the equity method of accounting. 

Note 26 to the Annual Accounts, details how these consolidated Financial Statements 
have been calculated. 

3. Prior Year Adjustments 

To ensure consistency between the reporting of Income and Expenditure in both NHS 
If_bYmtg UbX h\Y CD<tg UbbiU` UWWcibhg* U df]cf mYUf UX^ighaYbh \Ug VYYb aUXY hc h\Y Income 
for Services Commissioned by Integrated Joint Board (IJB) (Note 4) and Contributions from 
the Integrated Joint Board (Note 3) for the brought forward reserves for the amounts of 
(£1.981m for 2020/21 and £0.342m for 2019/20). These are detailed in (Note 20) 
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4. Going Concern 

The accounts are prepared on the going concern basis, which provides that the entity 
will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 

5. Accounting Convention 

The Accounts are prepared on a historical cost basis, as modified by the revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories, available-for-sale financial 
assets and financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value. 

6. Funding 

Most of the expenditure for NHS Orkney is met from funds advanced by the Scottish 
Government within an approved revenue resource limit. Cash drawn down to fund 
expenditure within this approved revenue resource limit (RRL) is credited to the general 
fund. 

All other income receivable by NHS Orkney that is not classed as funding is recognised 
in the year in which it is receivable.  

Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be delivered in the following 
financial year, that income is deferred. 

Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material 
conditions of sale have been met and is measured as the sums due under the sale 
contract. 

Non-discretionary funding out with the RRL is allocated to match actual expenditure 
incurred for the provision of specific pharmaceutical, dental or ophthalmic services 
identified by the Scottish Government. Non-discretionary expenditure is disclosed in the 
accounts and deducted from operating costs charged against the RRL in the Statement 
of Resource Outturn. 

Funding for the acquisition of capital assets received from the Scottish Government is 
credited to the general fund when cash is drawn down. 

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have 
been received, and is measured at the fair value of those goods and services. 
Expenditure is recognised in the Statement of Consolidated Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure except where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as 
property, plant and equipment. 

7. Property, plant and equipment 

The treatment of capital assets in the accounts (capitalisation, valuation, depreciation, 
particulars concerning donated assets) is in accordance with the NHS Capital 
Accounting Manual.  

Title to properties included in the accounts are held by Scottish Ministers. 

7.1 Recognition 

Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised where: it is held for use in delivering 
services or for administrative purposes; it is probable that future economic benefits will 
flow to, or service potential be provided to, NHS Orkney; it is expected to be used for 
more than one financial year; and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
All assets falling into the following categories are capitalised: 
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1) property, plant and equipment assets which are capable of being used for a 
period which could exceed one year, and have a cost equal to or greater 
than £5,000 

2) in cases where a new hospital would face an exceptional write off of items of 
equipment costing individually less than £5,000, NHS Orkney has the option 
to capitalise initial revenue equipment costs with a standard life of 10 years 

3) assets of lesser value may be capitalised where they form part of a group of 
similar assets purchased at approximately the same time and cost over 
£20,000 in total, or where they are part of the initial costs of equipping a new 
development and total over £20,000. 

7.2 Measurement 

Valuation: 

All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the 
costs directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended 
by management. 

All assets are measured subsequently at fair value as follows: 

� specialised NHS Land, buildings, equipment, installations and fittings are stated at 
depreciated replacement cost, as a proxy for fair value as specified in the FReM 

� non specialised land and buildings, such as offices, are stated at fair value 

� valuations of all land and building assets are reassessed by valuers under a 5-year 
programme of professional valuations and adjusted in intervening years to take 
account of movements in prices since the latest valuation. The valuations are 
carried out in accordance with the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) 
Appraisal and Valuation Manual insofar as these terms are consistent with the 
agreed requirements of the Scottish Government. 

� non specialised equipment, installations and fittings are valued at fair value. NHS 
Bodies value such assets using the most appropriate valuation methodology 
available (for example, appropriate indices). A depreciated historical cost basis as 
a proxy for fair value in respect of such assets which have short useful lives or low 
values (or both).  

� assets under construction are valued at current cost. This is calculated by the 
expenditure incurred to which an appropriate index is applied to arrive at current 
value. These are also subject to impairment review. 

To meet the underlying objectives established by the Scottish Government the following 
accepted variations of the RICS Appraisal and Valuation Manual have been required: 

� specialised operational assets are valued on a modified replacement cost basis to 
take account of modern substitute building materials and locality factors only 

� giVgYeiYbh YldYbX]hifY ]g WUd]hU`]gYX ]bhc Ub UggYhtg WUffm]b[ jU`iY k\Yb ]h ]g
probable the future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to NHS 
Orkney and the cost can be measured reliably. Where subsequent expenditure 
does not meet these criteria the expenditure is charged to the Statement of 
Consolidated Comprehensive Net Expenditure. If part of an asset is replaced, then 
the part it replaces is de-recognised, regardless of whether or not it has been 
depreciated separately. 
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� revaluations and impairment: increases in asset values arising from revaluations 
are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, 
they reverse an impairment previously recognised in the Statement of Consolidated 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, in which case they are recognised as income. 
Movements on revaluation are considered for individual assets rather than groups 
or land/buildings together. 

� permanent decreases in asset values and impairments are charged gross to the 
Statement of Consolidated Comprehensive Net Expenditure. Any related balance 
on the revaluation reserve is transferred to the General Fund.  

� gains and losses on revaluation are reported in the Statement of Consolidated 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure. 

7.3 Depreciation 

Items of Property, Plant and Equipment are depreciated to their estimated residual value 
over their remaining useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption 
of economic or service delivery benefits. 

Depreciation is charged on each main class of tangible asset as follows: 

1) freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is not depreciated 
2)  assets in the course of construction and residual interests in off-balance 

sheet PFI contract assets are not depreciated until the asset is brought into 
use or reverts to NHS Orkney, respectively 

3) JfcdYfhm* J`Ubh UbX ?ei]daYbh k\]W\ \Ug VYYb fYW`Ugg]Z]YX Ug sBY`X Zcf MU`Yt
ceases to be depreciated upon the reclassification 

4)  buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on current value over the 
estimated remaining life of the asset, as advised by the appointed valuer. 
They are assessed in the context of the maximum useful lives for building 
elements. 

5)  equipment is depreciated over the estimated life of the asset.  

Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis. 

The following asset lives have been used: 

Asset Category/Component Useful Life (years) 
Office, short life medical and IT Equipment 5 
Vehicles and soft furnishings 7 
Mainframe IT installations 8 
Medium life medical equipment 10 
Engineering plant and long life medical equipment 15 
Building Structure 15 p 50 
Building Engineering 15 
External Plant 15 

8. Intangible Assets 

8.1 Recognition 

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are 
WUdUV`Y cZ VY]b[ gc`X gYdUfUhY`m Zfca h\Y fYgh cZ HBM If_bYmtg Vig]bYgg cf k\]W\ Uf]gY
from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only where it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, NHS Orkney 
and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.  
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Intangible assets that meet the recognition criteria are capitalised when they are capable 
of being used in HBM If_bYmtg UWh]j]h]Yg Zcf acfY h\Ub cbY mYUf UbX h\Ym \UjY U Wcgh cZ
at least £5,000. 

The main classes of intangible assets recognised are: 

Software: 

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system is 
capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software which 
is not integral to the operation of hardware e.g. application software, is capitalised as an 
intangible asset. 

Software licences: 

Purchased computer software licences are capitalised as intangible assets where 
expenditure of at least £5,000 is incurred.  

8.2 Measurement 

Valuation: 

� intangible assets are recognised at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs 
needed to create, produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management. 

8.3 Amortisation 

Intangible assets are amortised to their estimated residual value over their remaining 
useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of economic or 
service delivery benefits. 

Amortisation is charged to the Statement of Consolidated Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure on each main class of intangible asset as follows: 

1)  software is amortised over their expected useful life 
2) software licences are amortised over the shorter term of the licence and their 

useful economic lives. 
3)  other intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful life. 
4)  ibhUb[]V`Y UggYhg k\]W\ \UjY VYYb fYW`Ugg]Z]YX Ug sBY`X Zcf MU`Yt WYUgY hc VY

amortised upon reclassification.  

Amortisation is charged on a straight line basis. 

The following asset lives have been used: 

Asset Category/Component Useful Life 
Software 5 

9. Non-current assets held for sale 

Non-WiffYbh UggYhg ]bhYbXYX Zcf X]gdcgU` UfY fYW`Ugg]Z]YX Ug sBY`X Zcf MU`Yt cbWY U`` cZ
the following criteria are met: 

� the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms 
which are usual and customary for such sales 

� the sale must be highly probable ie 
& management are committed to a plan to sell the asset 
& an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale 
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& the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price 
& the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of 

W`Ugg]Z]WUh]cb Ug sBY`X Zcf MU`Yt
& the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will 

be dropped or significant changes made to it. 

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying 
Uacibh UbX h\Y]f sZU]f jU`iY `Ygg Wcghg hc gY``t, >YdfYW]Uh]cb WYUgYg hc VY W\Uf[YX UbX
h\Y UggYhg UfY bch fYjU`iYX* YlWYdh k\YfY h\Y sZU]f jU`iY `Ygg Wcghg hc gY``t ZU``g VY`ck
the carrying amount. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions 
have been met. 

Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify 
Zcf fYWc[b]h]cb Ug sBY`X Zcf MU`Yt UbX ]bghYUX ]g fYhU]bYX Ug Ub cdYfUh]cbU` UggYh UbX h\Y
UggYhtg YWcbca]W `]ZY ]g UX^ighYX, N\Y UggYh ]g XY-recognised when scrapping or 
demolition occurs. 

10. Sale of Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and non-current assets 
held for sale

Disposal of non-current assets is accounted for as a reduction to the value of assets 
equal to the net book value of the assets disposed. When set against any sales 
proceeds, the resulting gain or loss on disposal will be recorded in the Statement of 
Consolidated Comprehensive Net Expenditure. Non-current assets held for sale will 
include assets transferred from other categories and will reflect any resultant changes in 
valuation. 

11. Leasing 

Operating leases 
Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to 
expenditure on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease 
incentives received are added to the lease rentals and charged to expenditure over the 
life of the lease. 

Leases of land and buildings 
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the 
building component and the classification for each is assessed separately. Leased land 
is treated as an operating lease unless title to the land is expected to transfer. 

12. Impairment of non-financial assets 

Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortisation are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. An impairment loss is fYWc[b]gYX Zcf h\Y Uacibh Vm k\]W\ h\Y UggYhtg
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher 
cZ Ub UggYhtg ZU]f jU`iY `Ygg Wcghg hc gY`` UbX jU`iY ]b igY, Q\YfY Ub UggYh ]g bch \Y`X Zcf
the purpose of generating cash flows, value in use is assumed to equal the cost of 
replacing the service potential provided by the asset, unless there has been a reduction 
in service potential. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at 
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating 
units). Non-financial assets that suffer impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of 
the impairment. Impairment losses charged to the SOCNE are deducted from future 
operating costs to the extent that they are identified as being reversed in subsequent 
revaluations. 
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13. General Fund Receivables and Payables

Where NHS Orkney has a positive net cash book balance at the year end, a 
corresponding creditor is created and the general fund debited with the same amount to 
indicate that this cash is repayable to the Scottish Government. Where NHS Orkney has 
a net overdrawn cash position at the year end, a corresponding debtor is created and 
the general fund credited with the same amount to indicate that additional cash is to be 
drawn down from the Scottish Government. 

14. Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Taking into account 
the high turnover of NHS inventories, the use of average purchase price is deemed to 
represent current cost. 

15. Losses and Special Payments

Operating expenditure includes certain losses which would have been made good 
through insurance cover had the NHS not been bearing its own risks. Had the NHS 
provided insurance cover, the insurance premiums would have been included as normal 
revenue expenditure. 

16. Employee Benefits 

Short-term Employee Benefits 

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the year in which 
the service is received from employees. The cost of annual leave and flexible working 
time entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the year is recognised 
in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward 
leave into the following year. 

Pension Costs

NHS Orkney participates in the NHS Superannuation Scheme (Scotland). This scheme 
is an unfunded statutory pension scheme with benefits underwritten by the UK 
Government. The scheme is financed by payments from employers and those current 
employees who are members of the scheme and paying contributions at progressively 
higher marginal rates based on pensionable pay as specified in the regulations. The 
Board is unable to identify its share of the underlying notional assets and liabilities of the 
scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore accounts for the scheme as 
]Z ]h kYfY XYZ]bYX Wcbhf]Vih]cb gW\YaY* Ug fYei]fYX Vm C;M /7 s?ad`cmYY <YbYZ]hgt, ;g U
result, the amount charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure 
represents the BoarXtg Yad`cmYf Wcbhf]Vih]cbg dUmUV`Y hc h\Y gW\YaY ]b fYgdYWh cZ h\Y
year. The contributions deducted from employees are reflected in the gross salaries 
charged and are similarly remitted to the Exchequer. The pension cost is assessed every 
four years by the Government Actuary and this valuation determines the rate of 
contributions required. The most recent actuarial valuation is published by the Scottish 
Public Pensions Agency and is available on their website. 

Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme 
except where the retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the 
additional costs is charged to the Statement of Consolidated Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure at the time the Board commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the 
method of payment. 
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17. Clinical and Medical Negligence Costs

Employing health bodies in Scotland are responsible for meeting medical negligence 
costs up to a threshold per claim. Costs above this threshold are reimbursed to Boards 
from a central fund held as part of the Clinical Negligence and Other Risks Indemnity 
Scheme (CNORIS) by the Scottish Government.  

NHS Orkney provide for all claims notified to the NHS Central Legal Office according to 
the jU`iY cZ h\Y W`U]a UbX h\Y dfcVUV]`]hm cZ gYhh`YaYbh, =`U]ag UggYggYX Ug s=UhY[cfm
1t UfY XYYaYX acgh `]_Y`m UbX dfcj]XYX Zcf ]b Zi``* h\cgY ]b s=UhY[cfm 0t Ug 3.$ cZ h\Y
W`U]a UbX h\cgY ]b sWUhY[cfm /t Ug b]`, N\Y VU`UbWY cZ h\Y jU`iY cZ W`U]ag bch dfcj]Xed for 
is disclosed as a contingent liability. This procedure is intended to estimate the amount 
considered to be the liability in respect of any claims outstanding and which will be 
recoverable from the Clinical Negligence and Other Risks Indemnity Scheme in the 
event of payment by an individual health body. The corresponding recovery in respect 
of amounts provided for is recorded as a debtor and that in respect of amounts disclosed 
as contingent liabilities are disclosed as contingent assets. 

NHS Orkney also provides for its liability from participating in the scheme.  The 
dUfh]W]dUh]cb ]b =HILCM dfcj]g]cb fYWc[b]gYg h\Y <cUfXtg fYgdYWh]jY g\UfY cZ h\Y hchU`
liability of NHS Scotland as advised by the Scottish Government and based on 
information prepared by NHS Boards and the Central Legal Office.  The movement in 
the provisions between financial years is matched by a corresponding adjustment in 
AME provision and is classified as non-core expenditure. 

18. Related Party Transactions 

Material related party transactions are disclosed in the Note 24 in line with the 
requirements of IAS 24. Transactions with other NHS bodies for the commissioning of 
health care are summarised in Note 3. 

19. Value Added Tax 

Most of the activities of the Board are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output 
tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is 
charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost 
of non-current assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the 
amounts are stated net of VAT. 

20.  NPD Schemes 

NHS Orkney has a Non Profit Distributing (NPD) scheme which was agreed with the 
Scottish Government for the provision of the New Hospital and Healthcare Facility. The 
new facility opened in 2019/20 and is accounted for in accordance with the HM Treasury 
application of IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements. 

On completion the asset was recognised on the Statement of Financial Position at Fair 
Value. Ownership will pass to NHS Orkney at the end of the 25 year service contract 
period. Annual Service Payments (ASP) will be made over the 25 year service contract 
period and charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.  

21. Provisions

The Board provides for legal or constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or 
amount at the balance sheet date on the basis of the best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, 
the estimated cash flows are discounted using the discount rate prescribed by HM 
Treasury.  
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22. Contingencies 

Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be 
WcbZ]faYX Vm cbY cf acfY ZihifY YjYbhg bch k\c``m k]h\]b h\Y <cUfXtg Wcbhfc`( UfY bch
recognised as assets but are disclosed in note 14 where an inflow of economic benefits 
is probable. 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in note 14, unless the 
probability of a transfer of economic benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities are defined 
as: 
� possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only 

Vm h\Y cWWiffYbWY cZ cbY cf acfY ibWYfhU]b ZihifY YjYbhg bch k\c``m k]h\]b h\Y Ybh]hmtg
control; or 

� present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a 
transfer of economic benefits will arise or for which the amount of the obligation 
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. 

23. Corresponding Amounts 

Corresponding amounts are shown for the primary statements and notes to the financial 
statements. Where the corresponding amounts are not directly comparable with the 
Uacibh hc VY g\ckb ]b fYgdYWh cZ h\Y WiffYbh Z]bUbW]U` mYUf* C;M / sJfYgYbhUh]cb cZ
@]bUbW]U` MhUhYaYbhgt* fYei]fYg h\Uh h\Ym g\ci`X VY UX^ighYX UbX h\Y VUg]g Zcf UX^ighaYbh
disclosed in a note to the financial statements. 

24. Financial Instruments 

Financial assets 

Classification 
The Board classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and receivables, and available for sale. The classification depends 
on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines 
the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 

(a) Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, 
except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date. These are 
classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables comprise trade and other 
receivables and cash at bank and in hand in the balance sheet. 

(b) Available-for-sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this 
category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current 
assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the 
balance sheet date. Available for sale financial assets comprise investments. 

Recognition and measurement  
Financial assets are recognised when the Board becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset 
have expired or have been transferred and the Board has transferred substantially all 
risks and rewards of ownership.  

(a) Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A 
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provision for impairment of loans and receivables is established when there is objective 
evidence that the Board will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the 
original terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability 
that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or 
delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that 
the loan and receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference 
between the assettg WUffm]b[ Uacibh UbX h\Y dfYgYbh jU`iY cZ Ygh]aUhYX ZihifY WUg\
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is 
recognised in the Statement of Consolidated Comprehensive Net Expenditure. When a 
loan or receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in the Statement 
of Consolidated Comprehensive Net Expenditure. 

(b) Available-for-sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised and subsequently carried at 
fair value. Changes in the fair value of financial assets classified as available for sale are 
recognised in equity in other reserves. When financial assets classified as available for 
sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in equity 
are included in the Statement of Consolidated Comprehensive Net Expenditure. 
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the Statement of 
=cbgc`]XUhYX =cadfY\Ybg]jY HYh ?ldYbX]hifY k\Yb h\Y <cUfXtg f][\h hc fYWY]jY
payments is established. 

Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active 
market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less 
impairment. 

The Board assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence 
that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity 
securities classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value of the security below its cost is considered as an indicator that the securities are 
impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the 
cumulative loss p measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised 
in profit or loss p is removed from equity and recognised in the Statement of 
Consolidated Comprehensive Net Expenditure. Impairment losses recognised in the 
Statement of Consolidated Comprehensive Net Expenditure on equity instruments are 
not reversed through the income statement.  

Financial Liabilities 

Classification 
The Board classifies its financial liabilities in the following categories: at fair value 
through profit or loss, and other financial liabilities. The classification depends on the 
purpose for which the financial liabilities were issued. Management determines the 
classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. 

Other financial liabilities are included in current liabilities, except for maturities greater 
than 12 months after the balance sheet date. These are classified as non-current 
`]UV]`]h]Yg, N\Y HBM <cUfXtg ch\Yf Z]bUbW]U` `]UV]`]h]Yg Wcadf]gY hfUXY UbX ch\Yf dUmUV`Yg
in the balance sheet. 

Recognition and measurement  
Financial liabilities are recognised when the Board becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. 

A financial liability is removed from the balance sheet when it is extinguished, that is 
when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired. 
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Other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

25.  Segmental reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting 
provided to the chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments. This has been 
identified as the senior management of the Board. 

Operating segments are unlikely to directly relate to the analysis of expenditure shown 
in note 3. 

26. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, cash 
balances held with the Government Banking Service, balances held in commercial banks 
and other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or 
less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current 
liabilities on the balance sheet. Where the Government Banking Service is using Citi and 
Royal Bank of Scotland Group to provide the banking services, funds held in these 
accounts should not be classed as commercial bank balances. 

27. Foreign exchange 

The functional and presentational currencies of the Board are sterling. 

A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is translated into the functional 
currency at the spot exchange rate on the date of the transaction. 

28. Third party assets 

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not 
recognised in the accounts since the Board has no beneficial interest in them. 

29.  Key sources of judgement and estimation uncertainty 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The Board makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting 
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The 
Board makes judgements in applying accounting policies. The estimates, assumptions 
and judgements that have a significant risk of a causing material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the financial statements within the next 
financial year are addressed below: 

Clinical and Medical Negligence Provision: The clinical and medical negligence 
provision is calculated using information received from the Central Legal Office regarding 
claims they have received relating to NHS Orkney. The provision covers all claims 
classified as category 3 and 50% of the value of claims in category 2 which have been 
assessed as having a probability of settlement. The share of NHS Scotland CNORIS 
liability is estimated based on actual settlement trends in prior years.  

Pension Provision: The pension provision is calculated using information received from 
the Scottish Public Pension Agency (SPPA) relating to former NHS Orkney employees 
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for whom NHS Orkney have an ongoing pension liability. The liability is calculated using 
information obtained from SPPA and discount rates as per SGHSCD guidance. 

Fair Value of Property, Plant and Equipment: Valuations of all land and building 
assets are reassessed by valuers under a 5-year programme of professional valuations 
and adjusted in intervening years to take account of movements in prices since the latest 
valuation. The New Balfour Hospital and Healthcare Facility was valued on 1 July 2019, 
all other land and buildings were valued on 31 March 2018. In years where no valuation 
exercise is performed by the valuers, all property, plant and equipment are subject to a 
desktop valuation on the basis of local market related indices at 31 March 2022, and the 
impact of any impairment in value on operating costs agreed. Such indices, included 
zero indexation factors, were applied following consultation and advice from the Boardts 
Property Advisor. The basis of property valuation is explained in the performance report.  

In applying the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Valuation Global 
Standards, the jU`iUh]cb ]g bch fYdcfhYX Ug VY]b[ giV^YWh hc saUhYf]U` jU`iUh]cb
ibWYfhU]bhmt,

Leases: For all relevant agreements, NHS Orkney has made judgement as to whether 
substantially all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of leased assets are 
transferred in line with IAS 17. 
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NHS ORKNEY 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

2021/22 

£'000

2a. Summary of Core Revenue Resource Outturn Notes 

Net Expenditure SOCNE 82,299 

Total Non Core Expenditure (see below) (2,593) 

FHS Non Discretionary Allocation (2,011) 

Endowment Net Expenditure (34)
Associates and joint ventures accounted for on an equity 
basis 1,880 

Total Core Expenditure 79,541

Core Revenue Resource Limit 79,611 

Saving/(excess) against Core Revenue Resource Limit 70

Summary of Non Core Revenue Resource Outturn

Depreciation/Amortisation 2,420 

Annually Managed Expenditure p Impairments 171 

Annually Managed Expenditure p Provisions 2 

Total Non Core Expenditure 2,593

Non Core Revenue Resource Limit  2,593 

Saving/(excess) against Non Core Revenue Resource 
Limit 0

Summary Resource Outturn Resource Expenditure Saving/(Excess)

£'000 £'000 £'000

Core 79,611 79,541 70 

Non Core  2,593 2,593 0 

Total 82,204 82,134 70

2b. Notes to the cash flow statement 

Consolidated adjustments for non-cash transactions 

2020/21 2021/22
jl--- jl--- Notes 

Expenditure Not Paid In Cash 

2,320 Depreciation 2,358 7a

109 Amortisation 60 6

237 Impairments on PPE charged to SoCNE 138 

0 Net revaluation on PPE charged to SoCNE (30)

0 Reversal of impairments on PPE charged to SOCNE 0

13 Impairments on intangible assets charged to SoCNE 64 6

(63) 
Loss/(Profit) on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment (124) 

(991) 
Associates and joint ventures accounted for on an equity 
basis 

(1,880) SOCNE

1,625 Total Expenditure Not Paid In Cash 586 CFS
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Interest payable recognised in operating expenditure 

There was no interest payable in 2020/21 or 2021/22. 

Consolidated movements in working capital 

2020/21 2021/22

Net Opening Closing Net 

Movement Balances Balances Movement Notes 

jl--- jl--- jl--- jl---

INVENTORIES

(188) Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 722 833 8

(188) Net Decrease/(Increase)                              (111)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

8 Due within one year 877 1,044 9

(3) Due after more than one year 8 12 9

885 1,056 

5 Net Decrease/(Increase)   (171)

  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

4,225 Due within one year 11,874 15,487 12

0 Due after more than one year 0 0 

(223) 
Less: Property, Plant & Equipment (Capital) 
included in above (246) (310) 

(701) Less: General Fund Creditor included in above (2,110) (234) 

9,518 14,943 

3,301 Net Increase/(Decrease)                                        5,425

PROVISIONS 

62 Statement of Financial Position 1,544 1,504   13a

62 Net Increase (40)

3,180 NET MOVEMENT  Increase/(Decrease) 5,103 CFS
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3.  Operating expenses 
3a.  Staff costs

2020/21 2021/22
jl--- jl--- Notes 

10,107 Medical and Dental 8,900 

13,266 Nursing 13,446 

17,062 Other Staff 17,862 

40,435 Total 40,208 SOCNE 

Further detail and analysis of employee expenditure can be found in the Remuneration and 
Staff Report, forming part of the Accountability Report. 

3b.  Other operating expenditure

2020/21 2021/22
Consolidated 

Restated Board Consolidated

jl--- jl--- jl---

Independent Primary Care Services:

4,167 General Medical Services 4,217 4,217 

1,218 Pharmaceutical Services 853 853 

1,134 General Dental Services 1,107 1,107 

304 General Ophthalmic Services 256 256 

6,823 Total Independent Primary Care Services 6,433 6,433

Drugs and medical supplies:

4,077 Prescribed drugs and appliances - Primary Care 4,226 4,226 

2,670                                                       - Secondary Care 2,862 2,862 

888 PPE and Testing Kits 198 198 

1,058 Medical Supplies 1,489 1,489

8,693 Total Drugs and medical supplies 8,775 8,775

Other health care expenditure

41,873 Contribution to Integrated Joint Boards 44,100 44,100 

7,147 Goods and services from other NHS Scotland bodies 8,017 8,017 

45 Goods and services from other UK NHS bodies (40) (40) 

819 Goods and services from private providers 812 812 

90 Goods and services from voluntary organisations 70 70 

2,270 Resource Transfer  2,301 2,301 

0 Loss on disposal of assets 0 0 

15,367 Other operating expenses 16,512 16,512 

73 Auditor's remuneration - statutory audit fee 75 75 

66 Endowment Fund expenditure 0 84 

67,750 Total Other health care expenditure 71,847 71,931

83,266 Total 87,055 87,139
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4.  Operating Income 

2020/21 2021/22
Consolidated 

Restated Board Consolidated

jl--- jl--- jl--- Notes

214 Income from Scottish Government 182 182  

440 Income from other NHS Scotland bodies 1,019 1,019  

36 Income from NHS non-Scottish bodies 142 142  

39,892 Income for services commissioned by Integrated Joint Board (IJB) 40,745 40,745  

52 Patient charges for primary care 181 181  

201 Donations 0 0  

63 Profit of disposal of assets 124 124  

25 Contribution in respect of clinical and medical negligence claims (25) (25)

Non NHS:

4 Overseas patients (non-reciprocal) 0 0 

131 Endowment Fund Income 0 50

730 Other 750 750 

41,788 Total Income 43,118 43,168 SOCNE 

5.  Segmental Information 

Segmental information as required under IFRS has been reported for each strategic 
objective. 

Hospital 
Services 

Pharma
cy & 

Drugs 
Costs 

Orkney 
Health 
& Care 

Dental, 
Ophthalmic  

and Pharmacy 
NCL 

Covid 
-19 

Savings 
Target 

External 
Commissio

ning 

Estates & 
Facilities 

jl--- jl--- jl--- jl--- jl--- jl--- jl--- jl---

2021/22 Net 
operating cost 13,341 3,406 29,335 2,011 11,749 (2,605) 10,530 7,779 

2020/21 Net 
operating cost 12,757 3,184 29,179 2,232 11,808 (5,231) 11,035 7,120 

Annually 
Managed 

Expenditure 

Support 
Services 

Depreciation 

IJB 
Consolida

tion k
Joint 

Venture 

Endowments Reser
ves 

Total 

jl--- jl--- jl--- jl--- jl--- jl--- jl---
2021/22 Net 
operating cost 174 6,642 2,420 (1,880) 34 (637) 82,299

2020/21 Net 
operating cost 290 7,176 2,428 (991) (65) 0 80,922
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6.  Intangible Assets 

Movements in 2021/22 Notes
Software 
Licences IT - Software Total

jl--- jl--- jl---

Cost or Valuation:

As at 1st April 2021 3 1,476 1,479 

Impairment charges 0 (140) (140) 

At 31st March 2022 3 1,336 1,339

Amortisation

As at 1st April 2021 3 1,076 1,079 

Provided during the year 0 60 60 

Impairment charges 0 (76) (76) 

At 31st March 2022 3 1,060 1,063

Net Book Value at 1st April 2021 0 400 400

Net Book Value at 31 March 2022 SoFP 0 276 276

Movements in 2020/21 Notes
Software 
Licences IT k Software Total

jl--- jl--- jl---

Cost or Valuation:

As at 1st April 2020 1,182 0 1,182 

Additions 2 0 20 20 

Completions 0 362 362 

Transfers (1,179) 1,179 0 

Impairment charges 0 (85) (85) 

At 31st March 2021 3 1,476 1,479

Amortisation

As at 1st April 2020 1,042 0 1,042 

Provided during the year 0 109 109 

Transfers between asset categories  (1,039) 1,039 0 

Impairment charges 0 (72) (72) 

At 31st March 2021 3 1,076 1,079

Net Book Value at 1st April 2020 140 0 140

Net Book Value at 31 March 2021 SoFP 0 400 400
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7(b).  Assets Held for Sale 

The following asset related to NHS Orkney was presented as held for sale following the 
approval by NHS Orkney Board: 

Greystones, Evie 

The Board disposed of Bayview, Hoy during 2021/22 

Movements in 2021/22 Notes

Property, 
Plant & 

Equipment 

£'000 

At 1 April 2021 41

Transfers from property, plant and equipment 106 

Disposals of non-current assets held for sale (47)

As at 31 March 2022 SoFP 100

Movements in 2020/21

Property, 
Plant & 

Equipment 

£'000 

At 1 April 2020 41

Transfers from property, plant and equipment 0 

As at 31 March 2021 SoFP 41

The old Balfour site remains part of our non-current assets at 31/03/22 as the provision of 
additional capacity is required during the Covid-19 outbreak and the site usage is included in 
contingency plans required by Scottish Government. The site will be marketed for sale when 
it is surplus to requirements. 

7(c).  Property, Plant and Equipment Disclosures 

2020/21 2021/22

jl--- jl--- Notes

Net book value of property, plant and equipment at 31 March

71,388 Purchased 75,066 

71,388 Total 75,066 SoFP 

1,896 Net book value related to land valued at open market value at 31 March 1,876  

258 Net book value related to buildings valued at open market value at 31 March 193  

58,622 Total value of assets held under NPD contract 61,277  

With the exception of the New Hospital and Healthcare Facility completed in 2019/20, all land and 
buildings were revalued by an independent valuer, the Valuation Office Agency, as at 31/03/2018 on 
the basis of fair value (market value or depreciated replacement costs where appropriate). As at 
31/03/2022 the values were index linked. These values were computed in accordance with the Royal 
Institute of Chartered Surveyors Statement of Asset Valuation Practice and Guidance notes, subject to 
the special accounting practices of the NHS. The New Hospital and Healthcare Facility was valued by 
an independent valuer on 01/07/2019, the asset was impaired to recognise as a completed asset at fair 
value on that date. 

The net impact was an increase of £4.042m (£0.00m in 2020/21) which was credited to the revaluation 
reserve. Impairment of £0.171m (2020/21: £0.237m) was charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
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Net Expenditure and Summary of Resource Outturn for the impairment of Property, Plant and 
Equipment. 

7(d).  Analysis of Capital Expenditure 

2020/21 2021/22

jl--- jl--- Notes

EXPENDITURE

20 Acquisition of Intangible Assets 0 6

1,121 Acquisition of Property, plant and equipment 2,239 7a

1,141 Gross Capital Expenditure 2,239

INCOME

0 Net book value of disposal of Property, plant and equipment 0 7a

0 Value of disposal of Non-Current Assets held for sale 47 

0 Capital Income 47

1,141 Net Capital Expenditure 2,192

SUMMARY OF CAPITAL RESOURCE OUTTURN

1,078 Core capital expenditure included above 2,192 

1,078 Core Capital Resource Limit 2,192 

0 Saving/(excess) against Core Capital Resource Limit 0

1,078 Total Capital Expenditure 2,192 

1,078 Total Capital Resource Limit 2,192 

0 Saving/(excess) against Total Capital Resource Limit 0

8.  Inventories 

2020/21 2021/22

jl--- Notes jl---

722 Raw Materials and Consumables 833 

722 Total Inventories SoFP 833
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9.  Trade and Other Receivables 

Consolidated Board Consolidated Board

2020/21 2020/21 2021/22 2021/22

jl--- jl--- jl--- jl--- Notes

Receivables due within one year

NHS Scotland

127 127 Scottish Government Health & Social Care Directorate 39 39 

200 200 Boards 200 200 

327 327 Total NHS Scotland Receivables 239 239

2 2 NHS Non-Scottish Bodies 69 69   

134 134 VAT recoverable 238 238 

179 179 Prepayments 184 184 

108 108 Other Receivables 300 300   

25 25 Reimbursement of provisions 0 0  

99 99 Other Public Sector Bodies 14 14   

3 0 Endowments consolidation 0 0   

877 874 Total Receivables due within one year 1,044 1,044 SoFP

Receivables due after more than one year

NHS Scotland

8 8 Accrued income 12 12   

8 8 Total Receivables due after more than one year 12 12 SoFP

885 882 TOTAL RECEIVABLES 1,056 1,056

6 6 
The total receivables figure above includes a provision for 
impairments of : 6 6   

WGA Classification

200 200 NHS Scotland 200 200   

129 129 Central Government Bodies 39 39 

99 99 Whole of Government Bodies 14 14 

2 2 Balances with NHS Bodies in England and Wales 69 69 

455 452 Balances with bodies external to Government 734 734   

885 882 Total 1,056 1,056

2020/21 2020/21
Movements on the provision for impairment of receivables 

are as follows: 2021/22 2021/22

jl--- jl--- jl--- jl---

14 14 At 1 April 6 6 

1 1 Provision for impairment 0 0 

(8) (8) Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible 0 0 

(1) (1) Unused amounts reversed 0 0

6 6 At 31 March 6 6

As of 31 March 2022, receivables with a carrying value of £6k (2020/21: £6k) were impaired and 
provided for. The ageing of these receivables is as follows: 

Consolidated Consolidated

2020/21 2021/22

jl--- jl---

0 3 to 6 months past due 0 

6 Over 6 months past due 6 

6 6
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Receivables that are less than three months past their due date are not considered impaired. As at 31 
March 2022, receivables with a carrying value of £0.911m (2020/21: £0.836m) were past their due date 
but not impaired. The ageing of receivables which are past due but not impaired is as follows: 

Consolidated Board Consolidated Board

2020/21 2020/21 2021/22 2021/22

jl--- jl--- jl--- jl---

839 836 Up to 3 months past due 908 908 

12 12 3 to 6 months past due 66 66 

40 40 Over 6 months past due 82 82 

891 888 1,056 1,056

The receivables assessed as past due but not impaired were mainly NHS Scotland Health Boards, and 
there is no history of default from these customers recently. 

Concentration of credit risk is limited due to customer base being large and unrelated/ government 
bodies. Due to this, management believe that there is no future credit risk provision required in excess 
of the normal provision for doubtful receivables. 

All carrying amounts of receivables are denominated in pounds sterling and the carrying value of both 
short term and long term receivables is approximate to their fair value.  

10. Investments 

Consolidated Consolidated

2020/21 2021/22

jl--- jl--- Notes

80 Government securities 57   

910 Other 956   

990 TOTAL 1,013 SoFP

847 At 1 April 991 

38 Additions 21 CFS

(52) Disposals (42) 

158 Revaluation surplus/(deficit) transferred to equity 43 SOCTE

991 At 31 March 1,013

991 Non-current 1,013 SoFP

991 At 31 March 1,013

0 The carrying value includes an impairment provision of 0

All the transactions relate to the endowment funds. 

11. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Consolidated Consolidated

2020/21 2021/22

jl--- jl--- Notes

1,535 Balance at 1 April 2,232 

697 Net change in cash and cash equivalent balances (1,880) CFS

2,232 Balance at 31 March 352 SoFP

2,232 Total Cash k Cash Flow Statement 352

2,095  Government Banking Service 199 

12 Commercial banks and cash in hand 35 

125 Endowment cash 118 

2,232 Balance at 31 March 352
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12. Trade and Other Payables 

Consolidated Board Consolidated Board

2020/21 2020/21 2021/22 2021/22

jl--- jl--- jl--- jl--- Notes

Payables due within one year

NHS Scotland

0 0 SGHSCD 0 0 

1,549 1,549 Boards 2,508 2,508 

1,549 1,549 Total NHS Scotland Payables 2,508 2,508

61 61 NHS Non-Scottish Bodies 8 8 

2,110 2,110 Amounts Payable to General Fund 234 234 

659 659 FHS Practitioners 725 725 

816 816 Trade Payables 1,334 1,334 

2,621 2,620 Accruals 2,024 2,024 

55 55 Deferred income 116 116 

713 713 Income tax and social security 784 784 

550 550 Superannuation 605 605 

270 270 Holiday Pay Accrual 279 279 

2,467 2,467 Other Public Sector Bodies 6,863 6,863 

0 0 Other payables 0 0 

3 0 Endowments Consolidation 7 0 

11,874 11,870 Total Payables due within one year 15,487 15,480 SoFP

Payables due after more than one year

0 0 Other payables 0 0 

11,874 11,870 TOTAL PAYABLES 15,487 15,480

WGA Classification

1,549 1,549 NHS Scotland 2,508 2,508 

0 0 Central Government Bodies 0 0 

2,465 2,465 Whole of Government Bodies 6,863 6,863 

61 61 
Balances with NHS Bodies in England and 
Wales 8 8 

7,799 7795 Balances with bodies external to Government 6,108 6,101 

11,874 11,870 Total 15,487 15,480

All carrying amounts of payables are denominated in pounds sterling

13. Provisions 

Movements in 2021/22

Pensions and 
similar 

obligations

Clinical & 
Medical Legal 
Claims against 

NHS Board
Participation 
in CNORIS Total

jl--- jl--- jl--- jl---

At 1 April 2021 327 50 1,167 1,544 

Arising during the year 15 0 59 74 

Utilised during the year (27) (50) (37) (114) 

Unwinding of Discount 0 0 0 0 

Reversed unutilised 0 0 0 0

At 31 March 2022 315 0 1,189 1,504
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The amounts shown above in relation to Clinical & Medical Negligence Claims against NHS 
Orkney are stated gross and the amount of any expected reimbursements are disclosed as 
receivables in note 9. 

Analysis of expected timing of discounted flows to 31 March 2022 

Pensions 
and similar 
obligations

Clinical & 
Medical Legal 

Claims 
against NHS 

Board
Participation 
in CNORIS Total Notes

jl--- jl--- jl--- jl---

Payable in one year 27 0 300 327 SoFP

Payable between 2 - 5 years 0 0 722 722 

Payable between 6 - 10 years 0 0 62 62 

Thereafter 288 0 105 393 

At 31 March 2022 315 0 1,189 1,504

Movements in 2020/21

Pensions 
and similar 
obligations

Clinical & 
Medical Legal 

Claims 
against NHS 

Board
Participation 
in CNORIS Total

jl--- jl--- jl--- jl---

At 1 April 2020 315 0 1,167 1,482 

Arising during the year 48 50 52 150 

Utilised during the year (27) 0 (52) (79) 

Unwinding of Discount 0 0 0 0 

Reversed unutilised (9) 0 0 (9)

At 31 March 2021 327 50 1,167 1,544

Analysis of expected timing of discounted flows to 31 March 2021 

Pensions 
and similar 
obligations

Clinical & 
Medical Legal 

Claims 
against NHS 

Board
Participation 
in CNORIS Total Notes

jl--- jl--- jl--- jl---

Payable in one year 27 50 290 367 SoFP

Payable between 2 - 5 years 0 0 709 709 

Payable between 6 - 10 years 0 0 61 61 

Thereafter 300 0 107 407 

At 31 March 2021 327 50 1,167 1,544

Pensions and similar Obligations 

The board meets the additional costs of benefits beyond the normal National Health Service 
Superannuation Scheme for Scotland benefits in respect of employees who retire early by 
paying the required amounts annually to the National Health Service Superannuation Scheme 
for Scotland over the period between early departure and normal retirement date. The Board 
provides for this in full when the early retirement programme becomes binding by establishing 
a provision for the estimated payments discounted by the Treasury discount rate of -1.30% in 
real terms. The Board expects expenditure to be charged to this provision for a period of up to 
17 years. 

Clinical and Medical Legal Claims against NHS Board 

The Board holds a provision to meet costs of outstanding clinical and medical negligence 
claims. All legal claims notified to the Board are processed by the Scottish NHS Central Legal 
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Office who will decide upon risk liability and likely outcome of each case. The impact of the 
provision is offset by an associated receivable disclosed in note 9, recognising the expected 
fY]aVifgYaYbh cZ gYhh`YaYbh Wcghg* h\fci[\ h\Y <cUfXtg dUfh]W]dUh]cb ]b h\Y =`]b]WU` HY[`][YbWY
and Other Risks Indemnity Scheme (CNORIS).  

Clinical Negligence and Other Risks Indemnity Scheme (CNORIS) 

2020/21 2021/22 Notes

jl--- jl---

50
Provision recognising individual claims against the NHS Board as at 31 
March 

0 13

(25) Associated CNORIS receivable at 31 March  0 9

1,167 
Provision recognising the NHS Board's liability from participating in the 
scheme at 31 March 

1,189 13

1,192 Net Total Provision relating to CNORIS at 31 March  1,189   

The Clinical Negligence and Other Risks Scheme (CNORIS) has been in operation since 2000. 
Participation in the scheme is mandatory for all NHS boards in Scotland. The scheme allows 
for risk pooling of legal claims in relation to clinical negligence and other risks and works in a 
similar manner to an insurance scheme. CNORIS has an agreed threshold of £25k and any 
W`U]ag k]h\ U jU`iY cZ `Ygg h\Ub h\]g UfY aYh X]fYWh`m Zfca HBM If_bYmgt ckb ViXget. 
Participants pool each financial year at a pre-agreed contribution rate based on the risks 
associated with each NHS board. If a claim is settled, the board will be reimbursed by the 
gW\YaY Zcf h\Y jU`iY cZ h\Y gYhh`YaYbh* `Ygg U o03_ qYlWYggr ZYY, N\Y scheme allows the risk 
associated with any large or late in the financial year legal claims to be managed and reduces 
the level of volatility that individual boards are exposed to. 

When a legal claim is made against the board, the board will assess whether a provision or 
contingent liability for that legal claim is required. If a provision is required then the board will 
also create an associated receivable, recognising reimbursement from the scheme if the legal 
claim settles. The provision and associated receivables are shown in the first two lines above. 
The receivable has been netted off against the provision to reflect reimbursement from the 
scheme. 

As a result of participation in the scheme, boards should also recognise that they will be 
required to make contributions to the scheme in future years. Therefore a second provision 
h\Uh fYWc[b]gYg h\Y VcUfXtg g\UfY cZ h\Y hchU` =HILCM `]UV]`]hm cZ HBM MWctland has been made 
and this is reflected in the third line above. 

Further information on the scheme can be found at https://clo.scot.nhs.uk/our-
services/cnoris.aspx. 

14. Contingent Liabilities 

There are no contingent liabilities in 2021/22 or 2020/21. 

15. Events After the Reporting Period 

There were no Post Balance Sheet date events having a material effect on the accounts. 
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16. Capital Commitments 

The board has the following capital commitments which have not been included for in the 
annual accounts. 

2020/21 2021/22
Property, 
plant and 

equipment:

Property, 
plant and 

equipment:

£'000 £'000

Contracted

0 Building Works 45 

40 Medical Equipment  8

40 Total 53

17. Commitments under leases 

2020/21 2021/22

£'000 Operating Leases £'000

Obligations under operating leases comprise:

Land

16 Not later than one year 7 

0 Later than one year, not later than 2 years 0 

0 Later than two year, not later than five years 0 

0 Later than five years 0 

Buildings

157 Not later than one year 153 

29 Later than one year, not later than 2 years 30 

29 Later than two year, not later than five years 0 

0 Later than five years 0 

Other

5 Not later than one year 7 

5 Later than one year, not later than 2 years 3 

16 Later than two year, not later than five years 4 

Amounts charged to Operating Costs in the 
year were: 

7 Hire of equipment (including vehicles) 7 

161 Other operating leases 353 

168 Total 360

There are no finance leases within NHS Orkney. 

18. Commitments under NPD contracts 

The accounting treatment reflects the nature of the contract, which is a Non Profit Distribution 
(NPD) scheme with a funding variant. As agreed in the business case this asset is on the 
public sector Balance Sheet as a Fixed Asset. During 2019/20 the New Hospital and 
Healthcare Facility was recognised on Statement of Financial Position at Fair Value. NHS 
Orkney will make Annual Service Payments over the 25 year period of the contract which will 
be charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure as they are incurred. 
Ownership of the New Hospital and Healthcare Facility will pass to NHS Orkney at the end of 
the 25 year period. The Annual Service Payments made in 2021/22 totalled £1.811m (2020/21 
£1.801m). 
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19.      Pension Costs 

2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000

4,997 Pension cost charge for the year 5,239 

25 Additional Costs arising from early retirement 9 

327 Provisions/Liabilities/Pre-payments included in the Balance Sheet 315 

NHS Orkney participates in the NHS Pension Scheme (Scotland). The scheme is an 
unfunded statutory public service pension scheme with benefits underwritten by the 
UK Government. The scheme is financed by payments from employers and from those 
current employees who are members of the scheme and paying contributions at 
progressively higher marginal rates based on pensionable pay, as specified in the 
regulations. The rate of employer contributions is set with reference to a funding 
valuation undertaken by the scheme actuary. The last four-yearly valuation was 
undertaken as at 31 March 2016. This valuation informed an employer contribution 
rate from 1 April 2019 of 20.9% of pensionable pay and an anticipated yield of 9.6% 
employees contributions

NHS Orkney has no liability Zcf ch\Yf Yad`cmYfgt cV`][Uh]cbg hc h\Y ai`h]-employer 
scheme. As the scheme is unfunded there can be no deficit or surplus to distribute on 
the wind-up of the scheme or withdrawal from the scheme

The scheme is an unfunded multi-employer defined benefit scheme. It is accepted that 
the scheme can be treated for accounting purposes as a defined contribution scheme 
in circumstances where the (name of body) is unable to identify its share of the 
underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme. The employer contribution rate for the 
period from 1 April 2021 is 20.9% of pensionable pay. The employee rate applied is 
variable and is anticipated to provide a yield of 9.6% of pensionable pay.

While a valuation was carried out as at 31 March 2016, work on the cost cap valuation 
was suspended by the UK Government following the decision by the Court of Appeal 
'GW=`ciX 'DiX]W]Ufm gW\YaY(-MUf[YUbh '@]fYZ][\hYfgt MW\YaY( WUgYg( h\Uh h\Y
transitional protections provided as part of the 2015 reforms unlawfully discriminated 
on the grounds of age. Following consultation and an announcement in February 2021 
on proposals to remedy the discrimination, the UK Government confirmed that the cost 
control element of the 2016 valuations could be completed. The UK Government has 
also asked the Government Actuary to review whether, and to what extent, the cost 
control mechanism is meeting its original objectives.  The 2020 actuarial valuations will 
hU_Y h\Y fYdcfhtg Z]bX]b[g ]bhc UWWcibh, N\Y ]bhYf]a fYdcfh ]g Wcad`YhY 'fYghf]WhYX( UbX
is currently being finalised with a consultation. Alongside these announcements, the 
UK Government confirmed that current employer contribution rates would stay in force 
until 1 April 2024. 

NHS Orkneytg `YjY` cZ dUfh]W]dUh]cb ]b h\Y gW\YaY ]g 0.4% based on the proportion of 
employer contributions paid in 2020-21.

Changes to the scheme were implemented from 1 April 2008 and again from 1 April 2015. 

The new NHS Pension Scheme (Scotland) 2015  

From 1 April 2015 the NHS Pension Scheme (Scotland) 2015 was introduced. This scheme is 
a Career Average Re-valued Earnings (CARE) scheme. Members will accrue 1/54 of their pay 
as pension for each year they are a member of the scheme. The accrued pension is re-valued 
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each year at an above inflation rate to maintain its buying power. This is currently 1.5% above 
increases to the Consumer Prices Index (CPI). This continues until the member leaves the 
scheme or retires. In 2020-21 members paid tiered contribution rates ranging from 5.2% to 
14.7% of pensionable earnings. The normal pension age (NPA) is the same as the State 
Pension age. Members can take their benefits earlier but there will be a deduction for early 
payment.  

The existing NHS Superannuation Scheme (Scotland)  

This scheme closed to new joiners on 31 March 2015 but any benefits earned in either NHS 
/773 cf HBM 0..6 gYWh]cbg UfY dfchYWhYX UbX k]`` VY dU]X Uh h\Y gYWh]cbtg bcfaU` dYbg]cb U[Y
using final pensionable pay when members leave or retire. Some members who were close to 
retirement when the NHS 2015 scheme launched will continue to earn benefits in their current 
section. This may affect members who were paying into the scheme on 1 April 2012 and were 
within 10 years of their normal retirement age. Some members who were close to retirement 
but did not qualify for full protection will remain in their current section beyond 1 April 2015 and 
join the 2015 scheme at a later date.  

All other members automatically joined the NHS 2015 scheme on 1 April 2015.  

Further information is available on the Scottish Public Pensions Agency (SPPA) web site at 
www.sppa.gov.uk

National Employment Savings Trust (NEST) 

The Pensions Act 2008 and 2011 Automatic Enrolment regulations required all employers to 
enrol workers meeting certain criteria into a pension scheme and pay contributions toward 
their retirement. For those staff not entitled to join the NHS Superannuation Scheme 
(Scotland), the Board utilised an alternative pension scheme called NEST to fulfil its Automatic 
Enrolment obligations. 

NEST is a defined contribution pension scheme established by law to support the introduction 
of Auto Enrolment. Contributions are taken from qualifying earnings, which are currently from 
£6,136 up to £50,000, but will be reviewed every year by the government. The initial employee 
contribution is 1% of qualifying earnings, with an employer contribution of 1%. This will 
increase in stages to meet levels set by government. 

Date Employee 
Contribution

Employer 
Contribution

Total 
Contribution

1st March 2013 1% 1% 2% 

1st October 2018 3% 2% 5% 

1st October 2019 5% 3% 8% 

Pension members can choose to let NEST manage their retirement fund or can take control 
themselves and alter contribution levels and switch between different funds. If pension 
members leave the Board they can continue to pay into NEST. 

NEST Pension members can take money out of NEST at any time from age 55. If suffering 
from serious ill health or incapable of working due to illness members can request to take 
money out of NEST early. They can take the entire retirement fund as cash, use it to buy a 
retirement income or a combination. Additionally, members can transfer their NEST retirement 
fund to another scheme. 

NEST is run by NEST Corporation, a trustee body which is a non-departmental public body 
cdYfUh]b[ Uh Ufatg `Yb[h\ Zfca [cjYfbaYbh UbX ]g UWWcibhUV`Y hc JUf`]UaYbh h\fci[\ h\Y
Department for Work and Pensions. 
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20.    Restated Primary Statement 

20a.  Restated SoCNE 

Previous 
Accounts 

Adjustment Adjustment These 
Accounts 

1 2 

£000 £000 £000 £000

Total income and expenditure

Employee expenditure 40,435   40,435 

Other expenditure 

Independent Primary Care Services  6,823   6,823 

Drugs and medical supplies 8,693   8,693 

Other health care expenditure 70,073 (1,981) (342) 67,750 

Less: operating income (44,111) 1,981 342 (41,788)

81,913 0 0 81,913
Associates and joint ventures accounted for 
on an equity basis (991) (991)

Net expenditure for the year 80,922 0 0 80,922

In order to ensure consistency between the reporting of Income and Expenditure in both 
HBM If_bYmtg UbX h\Y CD<tg UbbiU` UWWcibhg* U df]cf mYUf UX^ighaYbh \Ug VYYb aUXY hc
the Income for Services Commissioned by Integrated Joint Board (IJB) (Note 4) and 
Contributions from the Integrated Joint Board (Note 3) for the brought forward reserves 
for the amounts of (£1.981m for 2020/21 and £0.342m for 2019/20).  

21.    Financial Instruments 

21(a).  Financial Instruments by Category 

Financial Assets Consolidated Board

Loans and 
Receivables

Financial 
Assets Total

Loans and 
Receivables

2021/22 jl--- jl--- jl--- jl--- Notes

At 31 March 2021
Assets per Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position

Investments  0 1,013 1,013 0  10

Trade and other receivables excluding 
prepayments, reimbursements of provisions 
and VAT recoverable. 395 0  395 395 9

Cash and cash equivalents 352 0  352 234 11

747 1,013 1,760 629

Consolidated Board

Loans and 
Receivables

Financial 
Assets Total

Loans and 
Receivables 

2020/21 jl--- jl--- jl--- jl--- Notes

At 31 March 2021
Assets per Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position

Investments  0 990 990 0  10

Trade and other receivables excluding 
prepayments, reimbursements of provisions 
and VAT recoverable. 220 0  220 217 9

Cash and cash equivalents 2,232 0  2,232 2,107 11

2,452 990 3,442 2,324
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Financial Liabilities Consolidated Board

Other  financial 
liabilities

Other  
financial 
liabilities

2021/22 jl--- jl--- Notes

At 31 March 2022

Liabilities per Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Trade and other payables excluding statutory liabilities (VAT and 
income tax and social security), deferred income and superannuation 11,474 11,467 

12

11,474 11,467

Consolidated Board

Other  financial 
liabilities

Other  
financial 
liabilities

2020/21 jl--- jl--- Notes

At 31 March 2021

Liabilities per Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Trade and other payables excluding statutory liabilities (VAT and 
income tax and social security), deferred income and superannuation 9,007 9,003 

12

9,007 9,003

21(b).  Financial Instruments k Financial Risk Factor 

Exposure to Risk 

The NHS Board's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:- 

i. Credit risk - the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due. 
ii. Liquidity risk - the possibility that the NHS Board might not have funds available to 

meet its commitments to make payments. 
iii. Market risk - the possibility that financial loss might arise as a result of changes in such 

measures as interest rates, stock market movements or foreign exchange rates and 
because of the largely non-trading nature of its activities and the way in which 
government departments are financed, the NHS Board is not exposed to the degree of 
financial risk faced by business entities. 

i) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and other 
institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding 
receivables and committed transactions. 

For banks and other institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum 
rating of 'A' are accepted. 

Customers are assessed, taking into account their financial position, past 
experience and other factors, with individual credit limits being set in accordance 
with internal ratings in accordance with parameters set by the NHS Board. 

The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored and no credit limits were 
exceeded during the reporting period and no losses are expected from non-
performance by any counterparties in relation to deposits. 

ii) Liquidity risk
The Scottish Parliament makes provision for the use of resources by the NHS 
Board for revenue and capital purposes in a Budget Act for each financial year. 
Resources and accruing resources may be used only for the purposes specified 
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and up to the amounts specified in the Budget Act. The Act also specifies an overall 
cash authorisation to operate for the financial year. The NHS Board is not therefore 
exposed to significant liquidity risks. 

The trade and other payables excluding statutory liabilities as at the 31 March 2022 
was £11.465m (31 March 2021 was £9.004m). 

iii) Market risk
The NHS Board has no powers to borrow or invest surplus funds.  Financial assets 
and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities and are not held 
to manage the risks facing the NHS Board in undertaking its activities. 

The NHS Board has no significant interest bearing assets or liabilities and as such 
income and expenditure cash flows are substantially independent of changes in 
market interest rates. 

The NHS Board is not exposed to foreign currency risk or price risk. 

22.  Derivative Financial Instruments 

NHS Orkney does not have any derivative financial instruments. 

23.  Related Party Transactions 

Jason Taylor is a member of Management Committee of Orkney Housing Association Ltd. In 
year, NHS Orkney received invoices from Orkney Housing Association Ltd for £30,318 
(2020/21: £29,988). At 31 March 2022 nil (2020/21: nil) was due by NHS Orkney.  

Michael Dickson, Interim Chief Executive is also Chief Executive for NHS Shetland. At 31 
March 2022 the amount due to NHS Shetland was £172,612 (2020/21: £14,816). The spend 
with NHS Shetland for 2021/22 was £487,769 (2020/21: £185,664). The amount due from 
NHS Shetland was £93,148 (2020/21: £55,988), the income in year was £136,838 (2020/21: 
£18,340).  

The directors of the Board are also Trustees of Orkney Health Board Endowment funds. At 31 
March 2022 there were £2,718 (2020/21: nil) outstanding debts due to NHS Orkney and nil 
(2020/21: nil) due by NHS Orkney. 

The Integrated Joint Board expenditure in 2021/22 was £44.100m (2020/21: £42.215m). 
£6.084m (2020/21: £2.323m) is due as a creditor to the IJB at 31 March 2022.  

24.  Third Party Assets 

N\YfY kYfY bc JUh]Ybhgt Jf]jUhY @ibX ;WWcibhg \Y`X ]b 0.01/22 or 2020/21. 
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25(a). Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure 

2020/21 2021/22 

Group 
Restated Board IJB Endowments Consolidated

jl---
Notes 

jl--- jl--- jl--- jl---

Total income and expenditure

40,435 Staff costs N3 40,208 0 0 40,208 

Other operating expenditure: N3

6,823  Independent Primary Care Services 6,433 0 0 6,433 

8,693 Drugs and medical supplies 8,775 0 0 8,775 

67,750 Other health care expenditure 71,847 0 84 71,931 

123,701 Gross Expenditure for the year 127,263 0 84 127,347

(41,788) Less: Other Operating Income N4 (43,118) 0 (50) (43,168) 

(991) 
 Associates and joint ventures accounted for on 

an equity basis N4 0 (1,880) 0 (1,880) 

80,922 Net Operating Costs 84,145 (1,880) 34 82,299
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25(b). Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

2020/21 2021/22

Consolidated Board IJB Endowment Consolidated

jl--- Notes jl--- jl--- jl--- jl---

Non-current assets:

71,388 Property, plant and equipment SoFP 75,066 0 0 75,066 

400 Intangible assets SoFP 276 0 0 276 

Financial assets: 

991    Investments SoFP 0 0 1,013 1,013 

1,162 
Associates and joint ventures 
accounted for on an equity basis 26a 0 3,042 0 3,042 

8    Trade and other receivables SoFP 12 0 0 12 

73,949 Total non-current assets 75,354 3,042 1,013 79,409

Current Assets:

722 Inventories SoFP 833 0 0 833 

Financial assets: 

877   Trade and other receivables SoFP 1,044 0 0 1,044 

2,232    Cash and cash equivalents SoFP 234 0 118 352 

41 Assets classified as held for sale SoFP 100 0 0 100 

3,872 Total current assets 2,211 0 118 2,329

77,821 Total assets 77,565 3,042 1,131 81,738

(367) Provisions SoFP (327) 0 0 (327) 

Financial liabilities: 

(11,874)    Trade and other payables SoFP (15,480) 0 (7) (15,487) 

(12,241) Total current liabilities (15,807) 0 (7) (15,814)

65,580
Non-current assets plus/less net 
current assets/liabilities 61,758 3,042 1,124 65,924

Non-current liabilities

(1,177) Provisions SoFP (1,177) 0 0 (1,177) 

0 Trade and other payables 0 0 0 0 

(1,177) Total non-current liabilities (1,177) 0 0 (1,177)

64,403 Assets less liabilities 60,581 3,042 1,124 64,747

Taxpayers' Equity

61,310 General fund SoFP 55,800 0 0 55,800 

816 Revaluation reserve SoFP 4,781 0 0 4,781 

1,162 Other reserves p IJB joint venture SoFP 0 3,042 0 3,042 

1,115 Funds Held on Trust SoFP 0 0 1,124 1,124 

64,403 Total taxpayers' equity 60,581 3,042 1,124 64,747
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25(c). Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

2020/21 2021/22

Consolidated Board Endowment Group 

jl--- jl--- jl--- jl---

Cash flows from operating activities

(80,922) Net operating cost (84,145) (34) (84,179) 

1,625 Adjustments for non-cash transactions 2,466 0 2,466 

3,180 Movements in working capital 5,103 0 5,103 

(76,117) Net cash outflow from operating activities (76,576) (34) (76,610)

Cash flows from investing activities

(898) Purchase of property, plant and equipment (2,175) 0 (2,175) 

(20) Purchase of intangible assets 0 0 0

(38) Investment Additions 0 (21) (21) 

63 Proceeds of disposal of property, plant and equipment 171 0 171 

52 Receipts from sale of investments 0 42 42 

(841) Net cash outflow from investing activities (2,004) 21 (1,983)

Cash flows from financing activities

76,954 Funding 78,589 0 78,589 

701 Movement in general fund working capital (1,882) 6 (1,876)

77,655 Cash drawn down 76,707 6 76,713 

77,655 Net Financing 76,707 6 76,713

697
Net Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents in the period (1,873) (7) (1,880)

1,535 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
period 2,107 125 2,232 

2,232 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 234 118 352

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net 
debt/cash

697 Increase/(decrease) in cash in year (1,873) (7) (1,880)

1,535 Net debt/cash at 1 April 2,107 125 2,232 

2,232 Net debt/cash at 31 March 234 118 352
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